

Helsinki University Biomedical Dissertations No. 92

VEGFR-2 AND VEGFR-3 SPECIFIC SIGNALING IN LYMPHANGIOGENESIS AND ANGIOGENESIS

Maria Wirzenius

Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory Haartman Institute and Biomedicum Helsinki & Division of Biochemistry Department of Biological and Environmental Sciences Faculty of Biosciences

> University of Helsinki Finland

ACADEMIC DISSERTATION

To be publicly discussed, with the permission of the Faculty of Science of the University of Helsinki, in Lecture Hall 2, Biomedicum Helsinki, Haartmaninkatu 8, Helsinki, on June 16th, 2007, at 12 o'clock.

HELSINKI 2007

Supervised by

Professor Kari Alitalo Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory University of Helsinki

Reviewed by

Doctor Lauri Eklund Department of Medical Biochemistry and Molecular Biology University of Oulu

and

Docent Karl Lemström Transplantation laboratory University of Helsinki

Thesis opponent

Professor Lena Claesson-Welsh Department of Genetics and Pathology The Rudbeck Laboratory University of Uppsala

ISBN 978-952-10-3983-6 (paperback) ISBN 978-952-10-3984-3 (PDF) ISSN: 1457-8433 http://ethesis.helsinki.fi Yliopistopaino Helsinki 2007

CONTENTS

ABBREVIATIONS	4
LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	5
ABSTRACT	6
REVIEW OF THE LITTERATURE	7
1. THE CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM	7
The blood vascular system	7
Development of the blood vascular system	7
Endothelial and vascular mural cells	8
Physiological angiogenesis	8
Pathological blood vessel growth	9
Tumor angiogenesis	9
Therapeutic angiogenesis	9
2. THE LYMPHATIC SYSTEM	10
Development of the tymphatic vessels	10
Physiological and painological lymphanglogenesis	<i>11</i> 11
I umbedema	
Inflammation and wound healing	
Therapeutic lymphangiogenesis	12
3. CELL-TO-CELL SIGNALING AND PROTEIN PHOSPHORYLATION	13
Protein tyrosine kinases	14
4. THE VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTORS AND THEIR RECEPTORS	14
VEGF	15
PlGF	16
VEGF-B	16
VEGF-C and VEGF-D	16
Orf virus VEGFs and snake venom VEGF	17
VEGFR-1	
VEGFR-2	
VEGFR-3	20
Other VEGF receptors	
Neurophins	20
Integrins	
VE-cadherin	
5. PLATELET-DERIVED GROWTH FACTORS AND THEIR RECEPTORS	
PDGF-A and PDGF-B	23
PDGF-C and PDGF-D	24
$PDGFR-\alpha$ and $PDGFR-\beta$	24
AIMS OF THE STUDY	25
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
CONCLUDING REMARKS	
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	
REFERENCES	

ABBREVIATIONS

AAV	Adeno associated virus		
Ad	Adenovirus		
Ang	Angiopoietin		
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate		
BEC	Blood vascular endothelial cell		
BM	Basement membrane		
cDNA	Complementary deoxyribonucleic acid		
CAM	Comprementary actoxymboliacies acta Choricallantoic membrane		
CUB	Protain domain: the name originates from the first three protains the domain was		
COD	found in (Complement subcomponents C1r/C1a, see whip ECE like protein, here		
	nound in (Complement succomponents CH/C1s, sea unim EOF-like protein, bone		
DMGO	dimentional multi-mile		
DMSO			
E	Embryonic day		
EC	Endothelial cell		
ECM	Extracellular matrix		
EGF	Epidermal growth factor		
FGF	Fibroblast growth factor		
FIGF	c-fos induced growth factor (VEGF-D)		
Flk1	Fetal liver kinase 1 (mouse VEGFR-2)		
Flt1	<i>Fms</i> -like tyrosine kinase 1 (VEGFR-1)		
Flt4	<i>Fms</i> -like tyrosine kinase 4 (VEGFR-3)		
HDMVEC	Human dermal microvascular endothelial cell		
HIF	Hypoxia-inducible factor		
HSPG	Heparan sulphate proteoglycan		
IFP	Interstitional fluid pressure		
Ισ	Immunoglobulin		
1g K 1/	Kerotin 14		
K14 kh	Kilohaca		
	Kilouast Vilodolton		
KDa KDD			
KDK	Kinase insert domain containing receptor (numan vEGFR-2)		
LEC	Lymphatic endothelial cell		
LYVE-1	Lymphatic endothelial hyaluronan receptor 1		
МАРК	Mitogen activated protein kinase		
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid		
NP	Neuropilin		
NRTK	Nonreceptor tyrosine kinase		
Р	Postnatal day		
PAE	Porcine aortic endothelial		
PC	Pericyte		
PDGF	Platlet derived growth factor		
PDGFR	PDGF receptor		
PECAM-1	Platelet endothelial adhesion molecule 1		
PIGF	Placenta growth factor		
PTK	Protein tyrosine kinase		
Prov_1	Prospara-related homeobox protein 1		
DTK	Pacentor tyrosina kinasa		
SI C	Socondary lymphoid chemoking		
SLC			
SMA	Smooth muscle (-actin		
SMC	Smooth muscle cell		
IGF	Transforming growth factor		
VE-cadherin	Vascular endothelial cadherin		
VEGF	Vascular endothelial growth factor		
VEGFR	VEGF receptor		
VPF	Vascular permeability factor (VEGF)		
VRF	VEGF related factor (VEGF-B)		
VRP	VEGF related protein (VEGF-C)		

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This thesis is based on the following original research articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Uutela M, **Wirzenius M***, Paavonen K*, Rajantie I, He Y, Karpanen T, Lohela M, Wiig H, Salven P, Pajusola K, Eriksson U and Alitalo K. 2004. PDGF-D induces macrophage recruitment, increased interstitial pressure and blood vessel maturation during angiogenesis. *Blood*. 104:3198-3204.
- **II Wirzenius M,** Tammela T*, Uutela M*, He Y, Odorisio T, Zambruno G, Dvorak HF, Ylä-Herttuala S, Shibuya M and Alitalo K. 2007. Distinct vascular endothelial growth factor signals for lymphatic vessel enlargement and sprouting. *Journal of Experimental Medicine. In press.*
- III Karpanen T, Wirzenius M, Mäkinen T, Veikkola T, Haisma HJ, Achen MG, Stacker SA, Pytowski B, Ylä-Herttuala S and Alitalo K. 2006. Lyphangiogenic growth factor responsiveness is modulated by postnatal lymphatic vessel maturation. *The American Journal of Pathology*. 169(2):708-718.
- **IV** Heckman C, **Wirzenius M***, Holopainen T*, Keskitalo S, Jeltsch M, Wedge SR, Jürgensmeier JM and Alitalo K. 2007. The tyrosine kinase inhibitor AZD2171 effectively prevents VEGFR-3 activity and lymphangiogenesis. *Submitted*.

*) equal contribution

ABSTRACT

The circulatory system consists of the blood and lymphatic vessels. While blood vessels transport oxygen, cells, and nutrients to tissues, the lymphatic vessels collect fluid, cells, and plasma proteins from tissues to return back to the blood circulation. Angiogenesis, the growth of new blood vessels from pre-existing ones, is an important process involved in several physiological conditions such as inflammation, wound healing, and embryonic development. Furthermore, angiogenesis is found in many pathological conditions such as atherosclerosis and the growth and differentiation of solid tumors. Many tumor types spread via lymphatic vessels to form lymph node metastasis.

The elucidation of the molecular players coordinating development of the vascular system has provided an array of tools for further insight of the circulatory system. The discovery of the Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor (VEGF) family members and their tyrosine kinase receptors (VEGFRs) has facilitated the understanding of the vasculature in different physiological and pathological situations. The VEGFRs are expressed on endothelial cells and mediate the growth and maintenance of both the blood and lymphatic vasculatures.

This study was undertaken to address the role of VEGFR-2 specific signaling in maturation of blood vessels during neoangiogenesis and in lymphangiogenesis. We also wanted to differentiate between VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 specific signaling in lymphangiogenesis. We found that specific VEGFR-2 stimulation alone by gene therapeutic methods is not sufficient for production of mature blood vessels. However, VEGFR-2 stimulation in combination with expression of platelet-derived growth factor D (PDGF-D), a recently identified member of the PDGF growth factor family, was capable of stabilizing these newly formed vessels.

Signaling through VEGFR-3 is crucial during developmental lymphangiogenesis, but we showed that the lymphatic vasculature becomes independent of VEGFR-3 signaling after the postnatal period. We also found that VEGFR-2 specific stimulation cannot rescue the loss of lymphatic vessels when VEGFR-3 signaling is blocked and that VEGFR-2 specific signals promote lymphatic vessel enlargement, but are not involved in vessel sprouting to generate new lymphatic vessels *in vivo*, in contrast to the VEGFR-2 dependent sprouting observed in blood vessels. In addition, we compared the inhibitory effects of a small molecular tyrosine kinase inhibitor of VEGFR-2 vs. VEGFR-3 specific signaling *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Our results showed that the tyrosine kinase inhibitor could equally affect physiological and pathological processes dependent on VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 driven angiogenesis or lymphangiogenesis.

These results provide new insights into the VEGFR specific pathways required for pre- and postnatal angiogenesis as well as lymphangiogenesis, which could provide important targets and therapies for treatment of diseases characterized by abnormal angiogenesis or lymphangiogenesis.

REVIEW OF THE LITTERATURE

1. THE CARDIOVASCULAR SYSTEM

The blood vascular system

The cardiovascular system includes the heart and the blood vessels. Arteries deliver oxygenated blood to the capillaries where two-way exchange occurs between the blood and tissues. Veins collect deoxygenated blood from the microvasculature and carry it back to the heart.

Blood vessels consist of a monolayer of blood vascular endothelial cells (BECs) with molecular junctions tightly attaching the endothelial cells (ECs) to each other. These junctions form barriers, which regulate vessel permeability and the exchange of molecules between nearby ECs (reviewed in Dejana, 2004). The blood vessels rest on a basement membrane (BM), a thin sheet of extracellular matrix (ECM) composed of collagens, laminins, fibronectin, and heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPGs), which can vary depending on vessel type and tissue environment. Correct assembly of the BM is needed for vessel stability, as well as EC morphogenesis and vessel maturation (reviewed in Davis and Senger, 2005). In capillaries, the BM is shared by ECs and pericytes (PCs), which actively interact with each other and further support and stabilize the vessels. The larger vessels regulate blood pressure and transport blood to the capillaries. Layers of vascular smooth muscle cells (vSMCs), elastic fibers, and connective tissue surround the vessels making them resist high pressure.

Development of the blood vascular system

The blood vascular system is one of the first functional organ systems of the vertebrate embryo, and the creation of an accurately patterned network of blood vessels is essential for embryonic survival. Vasculogenesis initiates when the common precursor cells of both endothelial and blood cells, the hemangioblasts, form aggregates termed blood islands, in which the inner cells develop into hematopoietic precursors and the outer population into endothelial progenitor cells or angioblasts. Following commitment to the endothelial cell lineage, angioblasts may migrate extensively before assembling into a primitive vascular plexus of veins and arteries (reviewed in Carmeliet, 2000).

After formation of the primary vascular plexus, new capillaries are generated from the preexisting vessels in a process termed angiogenesis. In developmental angiogenesis, new vessels are formed either by endothelial sprouting and elongation from pre-existing vessels, or by splitting or merging of the pre-existing vessels (reviewed in Lawson and Weinstein, 2002). After the onset of blood circulation, the emerging vascular plexus is rapidly remodelled to resemble a mature system with a hierarchy of large and small vessels. A large amount of different endogenous inducers and inhibitors of angiogenesis have been identified. These factors must be tightly controlled and in balance for physiological angiogenesis to occur properly. The maturation of blood vessels includes the deposition of the BM and recruitment and organization vascular mural cells (reviewed in Carmeliet, 2000).

Endothelial and vascular mural cells

Depending on the vessel type, ECs vary in their morphology, function, and gene-expression profiles. Morphologically, they differ in size, shape, thickness, number of microvilli, and the position of the nucleus. Blood and lymphatic vascular endothelial cells (BECs and LECs) represent two distinct cell populations (Hirakawa et al., 2003; Kriehuber et al., 2001; Makinen et al., 2001b; Podgrabinska et al., 2002). ECs in tumor vessels are abnormally shaped, overlap each other and are only loosely interconnected with openings between the cells (Hashizume, 2000). ECs express specific markers that are very helpful in identifying these cells *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Most of the markers are present on both ECs and hematopoietic precursors or mature blood cells, strengthening the idea of a common embryonic precursor (Risau, 1995). Some of the endothelial markers are constitutive and present in essentially all types of endothelium. Other molecules are expressed only after activation by inflammatory cytokines or growth factors (Reviewed in Garlanda and Dejana, 1997).

Vascular mural cells, pericytes (PC) and vascular smooth muscle cells (vSMCs), are a heterogenous group of cells, which stabilize the newly formed vessel wall together with BM deposition. vSMCs of large blood vessels are separated from the vascular BM by a layer of mesenchymal cells and extracellular matrix. In these vessels, the vSMCs make up a separate layer in the vascular wall. PCs are embedded in the endothelial BM and make close contacts with the EC. While the role of vSMCs is to mediate vascular contraction and strength, the PCs seem to facilitate and integrate cell-to-cell communication. A single PC is often in contact with several ECs and therefore suggested to be involved in neighboring EC stabilization, contacts, and signaling. The vascular mural cells can be distinguished from the ECs by specific marker proteins (reviewed in Armulik et al., 2005).

Vascular mural cells originate from multiple sources including mesenchymal cells, neural crest cells, and epicardial cells (Hungerford and Little, 1999). In embryonic mesodermal cells they have common progenitors with the ECs (Flk-1 positive embryonic stem cells), which can differentiate into ECs in the presence of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) or into vSMCs in the presence of platelet–derived growth factor B (PDGF-B) (Yamashita et al., 2000).

Combinations of antiendothelial and antipericyte agents have been shown to have a synergistic effect in antiangiogenic therapy for diseases such as cancer and diabetic retinopathy (reviewed in Armulik et al., 2005). A combination of growth factors promoting both angiogenesis and PC recruitment has also shown to be synergistically effective in proangiogenic therapy.

Physiological angiogenesis

Usually ECs of adult, mature, quiescent vessels have a very low proliferating rate. However, new vessel growth occurs during some physiological events, such as in female reproductive organs (reviewed in Ferrara and Kerbel, 2005). In the adult, angiogenesis appears to be the primary mechanism of new vessel formation, although recent studies have suggested that bone marrow-derived endothelial precursor cells can be recruited and incorporated into sites of active neovascularization (Hristov et al., 2003).

Angiogenesis is initiated by an increase in vascular vasodilation and permeability in response to angiogenic growth factors. Periendothelial support cells detach and interendothelial connections loosen. Once ECs are activated, they start to produce proteases which decompose the BM and release factors from the ECM, such as basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF), VEGF, and insulin-like growth factor-1 (reviewed in Carmeliet, 2000). Monocytes and macrophages are also recruited to the site of angiogenesis where they secrete growth factors (Conway et al., 2001). The growth factors futher stimulate ECs to migrate into the tissue, to proliferate, and differentiate to form new vessels. Finally, the ECs start to produce PDGF-B to attract PCs and vSMCs to stabilize the newly formed vessels (Lindahl et al., 1998).

Pathological blood vessel growth

A wide range of diseases, including chronic inflammatory diseases, diabetic retinopathy, rheumatoid arthritis, preeclampsia, and cancer are characterized by abnormal angiogenesis. In contrast to physiological angiogenesis, pathological angiogenesis is often induced by inflammation. Monocytes and macrophages, platelets, mast cells and other leukocytes are attracted to sites of inflammation, in part by angiogenic factors such as VEGF (reviewed in Takahashi and Shibuya, 2005).

Tumor angiogenesis

Mammalian cells need oxygen and nutrients for survival and therefore have to be located within the diffusion limit of oxygen from blood vessels. In order to grow to a size beyond a few cubic millimeters, solid tumors must promote new blood vessel growth. Tumor vessels develop by sprouting or intussusception from pre-existing vessels. Also, circulating endothelial precursor cells from the bone marrow may contribute to tumor angiogenesis (Lyden et al., 2001).

Tumor vessels are not always formed only by ECs; rather they can be composed of only cancer cells or consist of a mosaic of cancer cells and ECs (Jain, 1988). Tumor vessels are structurally and functionally abnormal. They are dilated and tortuous, have an uneven diameter, and have excessive branching points, probably due to an imbalance of the angiogenic factors (reviewed in Carmeliet and Jain, 2000). Tumor vessel blood flow is variable and the vessels are very leaky (Dvorak et al., 1999; Hashizume, 2000). Also, tumor vessels may either lack PCs or be covered by abnormal PCs (Morikawa et al., 2002). Tumor vessels have also been proposed to express surface proteins that are absent or scarcely detectable in normal mature vessels (Huang et al., 1997).

Therapeutic angiogenesis

Therapeutic angiogenesis (promoting new vessel growth to treat ischaemic disorders) has been shown to be effective in a variety of animal models of coronary or limb ischemia. Clinical trials using the angiogenic factors VEGF or FGF have unfortunately not yielded in convincingly positive results (reviewed in Simons, 2005). Recently, studies have shown that therapy using hypoxia inducible factor-1 (HIF-1) which promotes expression of growth factors both for vessel growth and maturation would be more potent than using single angiogenic factors (Heinl-Green et al., 2005; Pajusola et al., 2005).

Already in 1971, it was proposed that tumor growth and metastasis are angiogenesis-

dependent, and hence, blocking angiogenesis could be a strategy to arrest tumor growth (reviewed in Folkman et al., 2000). Several promising strategies to inhibit tumor angiogenesis have been designed and tested *in vitro* and in animal models. These include inhibitors that interfere with angiogenic ligands, their receptors or downstream signaling, endogenous inhibitors of angiogenesis, or directly targeting of molecules that are specifically expressed on the tumor vasculature (Arap et al., 2002). However, only a few of these have had any effect in the clinics, despite extensive trials (reviewed Jain et al., 2006). So far, three drugs which interfere with VEGF have been approved by Federal Drug Administration (FDA) in the USA: Bevacizumab (AvastinTM) is a neutralizing antibody for VEGF which was shown to improve the efficacy of chemotherapy in colorectal cancer (Hurwitz, 2004; Hurwitz et al., 2004); Pegaptanib (MacugenTM), an oligonucleotide that binds VEGF; and Ranibizumab (LucentisTM), an antibody that binds VEGF. The latter two are both used for treatment of age-related macular degeneration (AMD) (Gaudreault et al., 2005; Gragoudas et al., 2004).

2. THE LYMPHATIC SYSTEM

The main function of the lymphatic system is to maintain tissue fluid balance by returning interstitial fluid to the venous circulation via the larger lymphatic collecting vessels and the thoracic duct. The lymphatic system also has an important role in the immune system and in absorption and transportation of digested fats from the intestine (reviewed in Karpanen and Makinen, 2006).

The lymphatic system is composed of a vascular network of thin-walled, blind-ended capillaries that drain protein-rich lymph from the extracellular spaces within most organs. The lymphatic capillaries are valveless endothelial single-cell layer tubes, which have an irregular basement membrane, overlapping EC junctions, and they lack PCs and SMCs, making them highly permeable to large macromolecules. Collecting lymphatic vessels have sparse SMC coverage, which helps moving lymph forward, and valves, which prevent backflow (reviewed in Karpanen and Makinen, 2006). Anchoring filaments attach the lymphatic vessels to the surrounding tissue. In addition to the lymphatic vessels, the lymphatic system includes lymphoid organs such as the lymph nodes, tonsils, Peyer's patches, spleen, and thymus, all of which play an important role in immune responses. Lymphatic vessels are normally not present in avascular structures such as epidermis, cartilage and cornea, or in some vascularized organs such as brain, retina and bone marrow (reviewed in Oliver and Detmar, 2002).

Development of the lymphatic vessels

During embryogenesis, the development of lymphatic vessels begins after the establishment of the blood vasculature when a subset of venous ECs becomes committed to the lymphatic endothelial cell lineage. These cells sprout from the major veins in the jugular and perimesonephric areas to form primitive lymphatic sacs, from which lymphatic vessels then spread by endothelial sprouting to the periphery of the embryo (reviewed in Wigle and Oliver, 1999). The homeodomain transcription factor Prox-1 (*prospero*-related homeobox protein 1) has been identified as a critical regulator of lymphatic endothelial cell (LEC) differentiation (reviewed in Oliver and Detmar, 2002). Induction of polarized expression of Prox-1 in the cardinal vein leads to upregulation of lymphatic-specific genes. The

simultaneous expression of the lymphatic-specific genes LYVE-1, Prox-1, VEGFR-3, and SLC may lead to irreversible specification of the lymphatic pathway (Wigle et al., 2002).

Physiological and pathological lymphangiogenesis

In the adult, the growth of lymphatic vessels follows the growth of blood vessels, similar to the situation occurring in embryonic development. During wound healing, the growth of lymphatic vessels lags behind that of blood vessels, and shortly after their formation, lymphatic vessels tend to regress (Paavonen et al., 2000). Lymphangiogenesis is not detected in chronic wounds, suggesting disturbed VEGFR-3 signaling in an abnormal wound healing process, which might be further impaired by the lack of lymphatic vessels. Lymphangiogenesis is thus probably an essential feature of tissue repair and inflammatory reactions in most organs.

Tumor lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic metastasis

In most human cancers, the lymphatic system serves as the primary route for the metastatic spread of tumor cells, and metastasis to the regional lymph nodes is one of the most important indicators of tumor aggressiveness (reviewed in Stacker et al., 2002a). VEGF-C and -D promote tumor lymphangiogenesis and the metastatic spread of tumor cells (reviewed in Saharinen et al., 2004).

Intratumoral lymphatic vessels and metastasis to lymph nodes and lungs have been documented in tumor xenografts expressing VEGF-C or VEGF-D (Skobe et al., 2001a; Skobe et al., 2001b; Stacker et al., 2001), as well as in VEGF-C or -D transgenic mouse tumors (Mandriota et al., 2001; Von Marschall et al., 2005). VEGF-C-induced tumor growth, lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic metastasis were inhibited by adenoviral expression of a soluble VEGFR-3-Ig fusion protein, which "traps" available VEGF-C and VEGF-D (He et al., 2002; Karpanen et al., 2001). Tumor lymphatic vessels have distinct molecular expression patterns from normal LECs (Laakkonen et al., 2002). Therefore, drugs specifically targeted to peritumoral lymphatic vessels might inhibit lymphatic metastasis. However, destruction of these vessels would further elevate the high interstitial pressure inside the tumor, which is known to interfere with the delivery of anti-cancer drugs (Jain and Padera, 2002).

Lymphedema

Lymphedema is caused by insufficient lymph transport by lymphatic vessels, which results in build-up of protein rich fluid in tissues causing chronic swelling of the extremities (Witte et al., 2001). Lymphedema is generally divided into two main categories. Primary lymphedema is a rare developmental disorder, characterized by hypoplasia or hyperplasia of the cutaneous lymphatic vessels. Kinase inactivating mutations in the VEGFR-3 gene were identified in several cases of hereditary, early-onset lymphedema (Milroy disease) (Ferrell et al., 1998; Irrthum et al., 2000; Karkkainen et al., 2000). Mutations in the transcription factors FoxC2 and Sox18 were also linked to lymphedema-distichiasis and hypotrichosislymphedema-telangiectasia, respectively (Fang et al., 2000; Finegold et al., 2001; Irrthum et al., 2003). Secondary lymphedema is caused by damage of the lymphatic vessels due to infection, surgery, or trauma. Secondary lymphedema can develop as the result of inflammatory obstruction of the draining lymphatic vessels or, for example, after breast cancer surgery (reviewed in Rockson, 2000). The most common cause of secondary lymphedema is filariasis caused by the parasitic Wucheriya bancroftii or Brugia malayi with a prevalence of over 120 million cases worldwide.

Inflammation and wound healing

Edema occurs in inflammatory diseases when the speed of plasma leakage from blood vessels exceeds the drainage through lymphatic vessels. Inflammatory cells express VEGFRs and are therefore attracted by angiogenic and lymphangiogenic signals. Macrophages secrete VEGF, VEGF-C and VEGF-D and can therefore stimulate lymphangiogenesis (Cursiefen et al., 2004; Mimura et al., 2001; Schoppmann et al., 2002; Skobe et al., 2001a). These cells can also transdifferentiate into LECs, which can incorporate into the lymphatic endothelium (Kerjaschki, 2005; Maruyama et al., 2005). Chronic airway inlammation by *Mycoplasma pulmonis* resulted in massive lymphangiogenesis induced by VEGF-C and VEGF-D producing inflammatory cells. Whereas the newly formed blood vessels regressed after antibiotic treatment, the lymphatic vessels stayed intact much longer (Baluk et al., 2005). Proliferation of lymphatic vessels has also been reported in rejected kidney transplants and in cornea models of inflammatory neovascularization (Chen et al., 2004; Kerjaschki et al., 2006).

Therapeutic lymphangiogenesis

Currently, therapeutic options for the management of lymphedema are limited, consisting primarily of physiotherapy, massage, and external compression (Witte et al., 2001). The discovery of specific genes involved in the regulation of lympahtic vessels and in the pathology of lymphedema has lead to experimental approaches for treating lymphedema. Adenoviral VEGF-C gene transfer into the skin was shown to result in a strong lymphangiogenic response (Enholm et al., 2001), and viral VEGF-C gene therapy induced the growth of functional lymphatic vessels in the skin of a mouse model for hereditary lymphedema (Karkkainen et al., 2001). However, high levels of VEGF-C also led to blood vascular effects such as increased vessel leakiness, presumably through the interaction of VEGF-C with VEGFR-2 expressed on the blood vascular endothelium (Saaristo et al., 2002a).

Adenoassociated virus (AAV)-mediated VEGF-C156S and VEGF-C gene transfer in the skin of lymphedema mice induced the formation of functional lymphatic vessels that persisted for at least eight months (Saaristo et al., 2002b). VEGF-C lymphangiogenic gene therapy has been shown to accelerate diabetic wound healing by inducing persistent angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis (Saaristo et al., 2006). VEGF-C and VEGF-C156S lymphangiogenic gene therapy was used to reconstruct the lymphatic vessel network severed by the incision wound in free flap operations in an animal model (Saaristo et al., 2004).



Figure 1. Schematic structure of blood and lymphatic vessels. Blood vessels consist of a monolayer of blood vascular endothelial cells (BECs), which form tight and adherent juntions. Vascular mural cells, pericytes (PCs), and vascular smooth muscle cells (vSMCs) surround the BECs. The BECs and PCs share a basement membrane (BM), which is needed for vessel stability. The lymphatic capillaries are valveless, single endothelial cell layer tubes with overlapping lymphatic endothelial cell (LEC) junctions and lacking PCs, making them highly permeable to large macromolecules. Anchoring filaments attach the lymphatic capillaries to the surrounding tissue. Collecting lymphatic vessels have sparse vSMC coverage, which helps move lymph forward, and valves, which prevent backflow.

3. CELL-TO-CELL SIGNALING AND PROTEIN PHOSPHORYLATION

The growth and survival of multicellular organisms is a complex process, which therefore must be strictly regulated. The synchronized differentiation of cells into different organs is largely dependent on the capability of the cells to react to extracellular stimulus and the ability to communicate with other cells. Signaling between cells occurs either locally as a result of direct contact between cells, or as a result of secreted signal mediators. These signal mediators can either be locally acting secreted growth factors or cytokines, or systematically circulating endocrine hormones, which mediate signals at their target tissue. Secreted growth factors bind to their receptors on the cell surface, which leads to an activation of intracellular signaling cascades. The final purpose for this activation is often regulation of different transcription factors and therefore reprogramming of the gene expression of the cell.

The key mechanism for intracellular signal transduction is covalent modification of proteins through reversible phosphorylation by protein kinases. Growth factor receptors have been characterized to be essential regulators of cellular functions. The receptors transmit the extracellular signals into the cell and regulate the important cellular processes such as cell migration and survival. Many intracellular signaling molecules contribute to a number of different signaling cascades. How the cell reacts to a specific stimulation is dependent on the length and strength of the signal, the cell type specific expression of receptors and modifying

proteins, and the availability of ligands (reviewed in Lowes et al., 2002). Many important cellular signals for growth, differentiation, adhesion, migration and apoptosis are transmitted by tyrosine phosphorylation of signaling modulators.

Protein tyrosine kinases

Protein tyrosine phosphorylation is the most common mechanism for signaling through membranes, mediated principally by all types of transmembrane receptors (reviewed in Hunter, 2000). The phosphorylation is carried out by protein tyrosine kinases (PTKs), which are divided into receptor tyrosine kinases (RTKs) and nonreceptor tyrosine kinases (NRTKs, also called cytoplasmic or intracellular tyrosine kinases). Over 90 PTKs have so far been identified in the human genome. These enzymes catalyze the transfer of the gamma phosphate of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) to tyrosine residues on protein substrates (reviewed in Blume-Jensen and Hunter, 2001; Hubbard and Till, 2000).

The kinase domain in protein tyrosine kinases consists of about 300 amino acids. The three dimensional structure of the kinase domain is very well conserved and composed of two lobes. The N-terminal lobe is comprised of a five-stranded β -sheet and one α -helix, αC , which functions in the regulation of the kinase. The C-terminal lobe is primarily α -helical and responsible for binding of the substrate. The linker region between the N- and C-terminal lobes forms a cleft at the ATP binding site (reviewed in Hubbard and Till, 2000).

Phosphorylation of tyrosine residues in the activation loop (A-loop), located in the C-terminal lobe of the kinase domain, typically leads to conformational changes and an increase in enzymatic activity. This regulation occurs either via *trans*-autophosphorylation or via phosphorylation by different NRTKs (reviewed in Huse and Kuriyan, 2002).

Ligand binding to RTKs induces receptor dimerization and activation, apparently by causing a conformational change of the receptor chains. As a result, the receptor becomes transphosphorylated on regulatory tyrosines in the activation loop, and promotes phosphorylation of target protein tyrosines (reviewed in Jiang and Hunter, 1999). The phosphorylated tyrosine residues on the activated receptor serve as docking sites for proteins containing phosphotyrosine recognition domains such as PTKs, PTPases, adaptors, scaffolds, small GTPase signaling proteins, phospholipid signaling proteins, cytoskeletal regulation proteins, transcription factors, etc. These proteins convert extracellular stimuli to a biological response through intracellular signaling pathways leading to changes in cellular functions.

4. THE VASCULAR ENDOTHELIAL GROWTH FACTORS AND THEIR RECEPTORS

The growth and differentiation of blood vascular as well as lymphatic endothelial cells are highly complicated and coordinated processes that involve many different growth factors and their receptor systems, such as members of the angiopoietin (Ang), ephrin, PDGF, and transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) families (Carmeliet, 2003; Jain, 2003; Yancopoulos et al., 2000). However, signaling mediated through the vascular endothelial growth factors (VEGFs) and associated receptor systems often represents the major rate-limiting step in developmental and physiological angiogenesis. The human VEGF family currently includes five members: VEGF, placenta growth factor (PIGF), VEGF-B, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D. Recently, two non-human growth factors, orf virus VEGF (also called VEGF-E) and snake venom VEGF (also called VEGF-F) have been added to the family. The VEGFs are secreted, dimeric glycoproteins, which all contain characteristic, regularly spaced eight cysteine residues, which compose the so-called cystine knot motif. Disulfide bonds covalently link the subunits together.

The VEGFs mediate their signals via three receptor tyrosine kinases, VEGFR-1, VEGFR-2, and VEGFR-3. The VEGFRs demonstrate structural and functional similarities to the platelet derived growth factor (PDGF) receptor family, and form a subfamily within that receptor class. All VEGFRs have seven immunoglobulin (Ig) homology domains in the extracellular ligand binding part, a transmembrane part, and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain. Like other RTKs, the VEGFRs dimerize and undergo trans-autophosphorylation upon ligand binding.



Figure 2. Receptor binding of VEGF family members to the VEGFRs.

VEGF

VEGF, also referred to as vascular permeability factor (VPF) is a major regulator of both physiological and pathological angiogenesis, as well as vascular permeability (reviewed in Ferrara, 1999b). Human VEGF exist in eight different protein isoforms, having subunit polypeptides of 121, 145, 148, 162, 165, 183, 189, and 206 amino acid residues (reviewed in Takahashi and Shibuya, 2005). The mouse isoforms are one amino acid residue shorter. VEGF is a ligand for the VEGF receptors (VEGFR)-1 and -2. In addition, VEGF₁₆₅ also binds neuropilin-1 (NP-1). The different isoforms differ in their bioavailability: whereas VEGF₁₂₁ is freely soluble and does not bind heparin, the larger isoforms contain increasingly

basic and heparin binding C-terminal domains. The major portion of secreted VEGF₁₆₅ remains bound to the cell surface and ECM, and VEGF₁₈₉ and VEGF₂₀₆ are almost completely bound in the ECM (Lee et al., 2005; Park et al., 1993). The longer isoforms can be released by proteolytic cleavage, thus increasing local VEGF concentrations during tissue growth and remodeling.

VEGF has a wide expression pattern and is produced by a variety of cell types (Ferrara, 1999a). VEGF expression is critical for the earliest stages of vasculogenesis, as blood islands, ECs, and major vessel tubes fail to develop in VEGF knockout embryos. Even loss of a single VEGF allele leads to embryonic lethality, indicating a strict dose-dependence for VEGF during development (Carmeliet et al., 1996; Ferrara et al., 1996).

VEGF induces angiogenesis by stimulating EC proliferation, migration and survival (Alon et al., 1995; Benjamin et al., 1999). Gene expression of VEGF is regulated by a variety of stimuli such as growth factors and cytokines as well as by hypoxia, transformation, p53 mutation and nitric oxide (NO) (reviewed in Takahashi and Shibuya, 2005).

PIGF

Human PIGF has been described in four isoforms PIGF-1, PIGF-2, PIGF-3, and PIGF-4 (Hauser and Weich, 1993; Maglione et al., 1991; Maglione et al., 1993). PIGF-2 and PIGF-4 bind heparin via a basic peptide insert near its C-terminus whereas PIGF-1 and PIGF-3 are non-heparin binding. PIGF homodimers bind only to VEGFR-1 (Park et al., 1994), but heterodimers of PIGF-1 and VEGF₁₆₅ have been characterized, which also can bind to soluble VEGFR-2 (Cao et al., 1996; DiSalvo et al., 1995; Park et al., 1994). PIGF-2 also binds NP-1 and -2 (reviewed in Takahashi and Shibuya, 2005). Overexpression of PIGF has been reported to induce increased vascularization and vessel permeability *in vivo* and shown to be mitogenic and chemotactic for ECs *in vitro* (Odorisio et al., 2002; Ziche et al., 1997). Loss of PIGF did not affect vasculogenesis or developmental angiogenesis, but resulted in impaired pathological angiogenesis during ischemia, inflammation, wound healing, and cancer (Carmeliet et al., 2001).

VEGF-B

VEGF-B, also referred as VEGF related factor (VRF), exists as two isoforms, VEGF-B₁₆₇ and VEGF-B₁₈₆, and it can form heterodimers with VEGF (Olofsson et al., 1996a; Olofsson et al., 1996b). VEGF-B is a ligand for VEGFR-1 and NP-1 (Makinen et al., 1999; Olofsson et al., 1998). Both forms of VEGF-B are broadly expressed, being most abundant in heart and skeletal muscle (Aase et al., 1999; Olofsson et al., 1996a). Deletion of the VEGF-B gene did not have a vascular effect, but resulted in abnormal cardiac development and function (Aase et al., 2001; Bellomo et al., 2000).

VEGF-C and VEGF-D

VEGF-C, also referred to as VEGF-related protein (VRP), and VEGF-D, also referred to as c-Fos-induced growth factor (FIGF), are the primarly lymphangiogenic factors (Achen et al., 1998; Joukov et al., 1996; Lee et al., 1996; Veikkola et al., 2001). No splicing variants have been reported in humans, while two isoforms of VEGF-D, VEGF-D₃₅₈ and VEGF-D₃₂₆, have been identified in mouse (Baldwin et al., 2001). VEGF-C and VEGF-D have precursor proteins with both N- and C-terminal propeptides flanking the VEGF homology region. They

are converted into mature forms by specific cleavage enzymes via two proteolytic steps (Joukov et al., 1997; McColl et al., 2003; Siegfried et al., 2003; Stacker et al., 1999). Upon proteolytic cleavage the affinity of VEGF-C and VEGF-D towards VEGFR-3 increases and the fully processed, mature forms also binds to and activates VEGFR-2. Interestingly, the mouse VEGF-D is a specific ligand of VEGFR-3, unable to bind VEGFR-2 (Baldwin et al., 2001). VEGF-C and VEGF-D are also able to bind NP-1 and NP-2 (Karpanen et al., 2006). Deletion of the VEGF-C gene in mice shows that VEGF-C is required for the initial steps in lymphatic development (Karkkainen et al., 2004), whereas VEGF-D-deficient mice are healthy and display no pathologic changes consistent with a defect in lymphatic function (Baldwin et al., 2005). Even though both VEGF-C and VEGF-D induce EC proliferation and migration *in vitro* (Achen et al., 1998; Joukov et al., 1996; Lee et al., 1997; Stacker et al., 1999).

VEGF-C is most abundant in the heart and lung and is expressed mainly by mesenchymal cells and vascular SMCs (Karkkainen et al., 2004; Kukk et al., 1996). VEGF-D has a broader expression pattern, in the lung, heart, skeletal muscle, colon, and small intestine (Achen et al., 1998). VEGF-C acts as a highly specific lymphangiogenic factor in the mature chorioallantoic membrane (CAM) and in the skin of transgenic mice (Jeltsch et al., 1997; Oh et al., 1997). However, recombinant VEGF-C also promotes angiogenesis when applied to early CAM where lymphatic vessels have not yet developed, to avascular mouse cornea, to mouse cornea or to rabbit ischemic hindlimb (Cao et al., 1998; Rissanen et al., 2003; Witzenbichler et al., 1998). In both zebrafish and in Xenopus tadpoles, VEGF-C is required for angiogenesis (Ny et al., 2005; Ober et al., 2004). VEGF-D has been reported to promote angiogenesis in rabbit cornea and muscle, but in other systems, such as mouse skin, VEGF-D induces exclusively lymphangiogenesis (Marconcini et al., 1999; Rissanen et al., 2003; Veikkola et al., 2001).

Orf virus VEGFs and snake venom VEGF

Genes with sequence homology to VEGF have been discovered in Orf viruses and in pseudocowpox viruses. These virus-encoded VEGFs, commonly named VEGF-E, cause highly vascularized and pustular dermatitis in sheep, goats, and occasionally in humans (Lyttle et al., 1994; Meyer et al., 1999; Ogawa et al., 1998). The virus-encoded VEGFs can be separated into two groups, with VEGF-E_{D1701} and VEGF-E_{NZ2} most closely related to VEGF and PIGF, while VEGF-E_{NZ7} is similar to VEGF-C and VEGF-D (Holmes and Zachary, 2005). The virus-encoded VEGFs bind to VEGFR-2 and induce its autophosphorylation to almost the same extent as VEGF, but do not bind to VEGFR-1 (Meyer et al., 1999; Ogawa et al., 1998; Wise et al., 1999). Although VEGF-E does not play a role in vascular physiology, it has been used as a VEGFR-2 specific agonist in experimental models of angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. Such studies have indicated that VEGF-E expression in the skin of transgenic mice results in an angiogenic phenotype (Kiba et al., 2003). Chimeric molecules composed of VEGF-E_{NZ7} and human PIGF-1 (VEGF- E_{NZ7} /PlGF) have been proposed to be potent therapeutic angiogenic factors by stimulating angiogenesis in response to tissue ischemia and by accelerating skin wound healing (Inoue et al., 2007; Zheng et al., 2006; Zheng et al., 2007)

VEGF-like proteins have also been identified from snake (viper) venom. Different snake venom VEGFs bind VEGFR-1 and/or VEGFR-2, and vary in their ability to induce

angiogenesis and vessel permeability (Gasmi et al., 2000; Gasmi et al., 2002; Junqueira de Azevedo et al., 2001; Komori et al., 1999; Takahashi et al., 2004).

	VEGF	PIGF	VEGF-B	VEGF-C	VEGF-D
Gene					
(Geneatlas	15.9 kb	13.9 kb	3.71 kb	109.2 kb	38.86 kb
database)					
Chromosome	6p12	14q24.3	11q13	4q34	Xp22.31
location					
Protein	VEGF ₁₂₁ ,	PlGF-1	VEGF- B_{167}^* ,	Precursor	Precursors
splice	VEGF ₁₄₅ *,	$(PlGF_{131}),$	VEGF-B ₁₈₆	VEGF-C ₃₈₈ *	VEGF-D ₃₅₈ *,
isoforms	$VEGF_{148}*,$	PlGF-2*			VEGF-D ₃₂₆ *
	$VEGF_{162}*,$	$(PIGF_{152}),$			
	$VEGF_{165}*,$	PIGF-3			
	$VEGF_{183}^{*},$	$(PIGF_{203}),$			
	$VEGF_{189}^{*},$	PIGF-4*			
	VEGF ₂₀₆ *	$(PIGF_{276})$			
Sequence		42%	45%	30%	61%
homology		sequence	sequence	sequence	sequence
		identity to	identity to	identity to	identity to
		VEGF	VEGF	VEGF	VEGF-C;
					31%
					identical to
					VEGF
Dimerization	Homodimers;	Homodimers,	Homodimers;	Homodimers;	Homodimers;
	heterodimer	heterodimers	heterodimers	heterodimers	heterodimers
	with VEGF-	with VEGF	with VEGF	with VEGF-	with VEGF-
	B and PIGF			D	C

Table 1. The molecular features of members of the human VEGF gene family. The asterisks indicate heparin binding. References appear in the text.

VEGFR-1

VEGFR-1, also known as Flt1 (Fms-like tyrosine kinase 1), is a 180 kDa transmembrane glycoprotein, but its mRNA can also be spliced to produce a shorter soluble protein consisting only of the first six extracellular Ig homology domains (De Vries et al., 1992; Kendall and Thomas, 1993; Shibuya et al., 1990). In the adult, VEGFR-1 is expressed mostly on the blood vascular endothelium, vSMCs, monocytes/macrophages, dendritic cells, hematopoietic stem cells, trophoblasts, and osteoclasts (reviewed in Shibuya, 2001). The VEGF binding domains have been mapped to the 2nd and 3rd extracellular Ig homology domains (Keyt et al., 1996).

Several autophosphorylation sites of VEGFR-1 have been identified but the associated downstream signaling pathways are poorly known mainly due to its weak tyrosine kinase activity (reviewed in Shibuya and Claesson-Welsh, 2006). Interestingly, the pattern of VEGFR-1 autophosphorylation induced by VEGF and PIGF were not identical, suggesting that the two ligands induce different conformational changes of the intracellular part of the receptor, or different association patterns with modifying molecules, such as heparin sulfated glycans or neuropilins (Autiero et al., 2003). Targeted inactivation of the VEGFR-1 gene

results in embryonic death at E8.5-9.0 due to overgrowth and disorganization of blood vessels (Fong et al., 1995; Fong et al., 1999). Deletion of only the intracellular domain of VEGFR-1 is compatible with normal vascular development, but impairs pathological angiogenesis such as tumor angiogenesis (Hiratsuka et al., 2001; Hiratsuka et al., 1998). VEGFR-1 signaling is also involved in monocyte/macrophage migration in response to VEGF (Hiratsuka et al., 1998) and in the reconstitution of hematopoiesis by recruiting hematopoietic stem cells (Hattori et al., 2002). These results indicate that the ligand-binding domain together with the transmembrane domain of VEGFR-1 are adequate to act as a negative effector of angiogenesis, most likely by functioning as a "decoy" receptor for secreted VEGF (Fong et al., 1999; Hiratsuka et al., 1998). VEGFR-1 activation is also reported to result in inhibition of VEGFR-2 (Gille et al., 2000; Zeng et al., 2001). Conversely, VEGFR-1 has been suggested to positively adjust VEGFR-2, possibly through heterodimerization of the receptors (Autiero et al., 2003; Carmeliet et al., 2001; Huang et al., 2001). VEGFR-1 stimulation has been shown to be involved in progression of diseases such as rheumatoid arthritis and cancer metastasis (reviewed in Shibuya and Claesson-Welsh, 2006)

VEGFR-2

VEGFR-2, denoted as KDR (kinase insert domain containing receptor) in human and Flk-1 (Fetal liver kinase 1) in mouse, is a 220 kDa protein with no reported splice variants. VEGFR-2 is the main VEGF induced signal transducer in both physiological and pathological angiogenesis, mediating proliferation, migration, and survival signals in ECs (reviewed in Shibuya and Claesson-Welsh, 2006). VEGFR-2 expression by tip cells confers VEGF sensitivity and guided migration of angiogenic sprouts during vascularization (Gerhardt et al., 2003). VEGFR-2 is essential for the differentiation of VEGFR-2 positive endothelial precursor cells into vascular ECs and VEGFR-2 gene knockout mice die at E8.5-9.0 due to lack of vasculogenesis (Shalaby et al., 1995). In addition to ECs, VEGFR-2 is expressed in hematopoietic stem cells and megakaryocytes (Katoh et al., 1995; Ziegler et al., 1999). The ligand-binding domains have been mapped to the 2nd and 3rd extracellular Ig homology domains (Fuh et al., 1998).

VEGFR-2 stimulation by VEGF leads to autophosphorylation of tyrosine residues (Y) at the carboxyterminal region of the receptor. Y1175 appears to be one of the most essential since it is a binding site for the SH2 domain of phospholipase-C γ (PLC γ), which is then tyrosine phosphorylated and activates the downstream PKC-c-Raf-MEK-MAP-kinase pathway (Takahashi et al., 2001). Knock-in mutant mice with a Tyrosine-to-Phenylalanine substitution at position 1173 (equivalent to 1175 in humans) die at E9.0 due to lack of vasculogenesis/angiogenesis (Sakurai et al., 2005), suggesting this pathway is important *in vivo*. VEGFR-2 has also been shown to interact with the adapter molecule Shb, TSAd (T-cell specific adapter), Akt, VE-cadherin, and integrins such as $\alpha\nu\beta3$ (Gerber et al., 1998; Holmqvist et al., 2004; Shay-Salit et al., 2002; Zeng et al., 2001). VEGFR-2 also mediates vascular permeability, probably via Src and Yes (Eliceiri et al., 1999). Recent studies have also suggested a role for VEGFR-2 in lymphangiogenesis (Hirakawa et al., 2005; Nagy et al., 2002).

Lately, a naturally occurring soluble form of VEGFR-2 has been detected in mouse and human plasma (Ebos et al., 2004). Similar to soluble VEGFR-1, soluble VEGFR-2 may have a regulatory effect in VEGF-mediated angiogenesis.

VEGFR-3

VEGFR-3, also denoted as Flt4 (Fms-like tyrosine kinase 4), is a 195 kDa protein, which is, unlike VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, proteolytically cleaved within the fifth extracellular Ig loop into a 120 kDa and a 75 kDa form during synthesis, with the two forms linked by a disulfide bond (Lee et al., 1996; Pajusola et al., 1993). The presence of a smaller transcript in humans, but not in the mouse, was shown to be due to the insertion of a human retrovirus between the last two exons of VEGFR-3 (Hughes, 2001; Pajusola et al., 1993).

VEGFR-3 stimulation leads to autophosphorylation of intracellular tyrosine residues (Dixelius et al., 2003). The adaptor molecule Shc has been shown to bind to VEGFR-3 as well as Pyk2, which leads to activation of ERK and Jun NH2-terminal kinase (Jnk) and tyrosine phosphorylation of the focal adhesion protein paxillin (Wang et al., 1997). VEGFR-3 also induces PKC dependent activation of the p42/p45 MAPK signaling cascade and PI3K dependent Akt phosphorylation to mediate growth and survival of cultured LECs (Makinen et al., 2001b). The tyrosine residue Y1068 is necessary for the activation of the VEGFR-3 kinase domain, whereas Y1063 was shown to be the site for survival signaling via the CRK/MKK4/JNK pathway and Y1230/1231 activate the classic PI3K/Akt and ERK pathways upon GRB2 reqruitment to the receptor (Salameh et al., 2005). VEGFR-3 has also been shown to heterodimerize with VEGFR-2, which leads to differential phosphorylation of the receptor and potential activation of different signal transduction pathways in comparison to the VEGFR-3 homodimeric configuration (Dixelius et al., 2003).

Loss of the VEGFR-3 gene leads to defective remodeling of the primary vascular plexus and cardiovascular failure resulting in embryonic death by E9.5 (Dumont et al., 1998). Therefore, the early embryonic function of VEGFR-3 involves blood vascular development. Later, VEGFR-3 expression becomes quite specific for LECs (reviewed in Oliver and Detmar, 2002). VEGFR-3 signaling is required for the formation of the lymphatic vasculature, as lymphangiogenesis can be inhibited with a soluble VEGFR-3 (Makinen et al., 2001a). In adults, VEGFR-3 is also expressed in fenestrated blood vessels, in monocytes/macrophages, in neural progenitor cells, and in osteoblasts (Le Bras et al., 2006; Orlandini et al., 2006; Partanen et al., 2000; Schoppmann et al., 2002; Skobe et al., 2001a). VEGFR-3 is also upregulated in tumor blood vessels (Laakkonen et al., 2007; Partanen et al., 1999; Valtola et al., 1999). Missense mutations in the VEGFR-3 gene that result in inactivation of the tyrosine kinase have been linked to primary lymphedema both in humans and in the mouse (Karkkainen et al., 2000).

Other VEGF receptors

Neuropilins

Neuropilins (NP-1 and NP-2) are widely expressed cell surface glycoproteins (Kolodkin et al., 1997). They function as receptors for the class 3 semaphorins (Sema3s), which are secreted molecules involved in axon guidance, as well as coreceptors for several VEGF family members (reviewed in Neufeld et al., 2002). NP1 binds VEGF₁₆₅, VEGF-B₁₆₇, VEGF-B₁₈₆, PIGF-2, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D (Karpanen et al., 2006; Makinen et al., 1999; Migdal et al., 1998; Ober et al., 2004; Soker et al., 1998), whereas NP-2 binds VEGF₁₆₅, VEGF₁₄₅, VEGF-2, VEGF-C, and VEGF-D (Gluzman-Poltorak et al., 2000; Karpanen et al., 2006). Due to their short cytoplasmic tails, the NPs probably have no independent signaling function, but may act as coreceptors for the VEGFRs. VEGFR-1 interacts with both NP-1

and NP-2 (Fuh et al., 2000; Gluzman-Poltorak et al., 2001), while VEGFR-2 interacts only with NP-1 (Soker et al., 2002) but not NP-2 (Karpanen et al., 2006). VEGFR-3 has been shown to interact with both NP-2 and NP-1 and NP-1 is suggested to modulate the angiogenic function of the VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 ligands VEGF-C and VEGF-D (Karpanen et al., 2006).

Sema3A and VEGF₁₆₅ compete with each other for NP-1 binding, and Sema3A binding to NP-1 in the presence of VEGFR-2 can inhibit VEGF-dependent angiogenesis (Miao et al., 1999). Both NPs are expressed in yolk-sac ECs during vasculogenesis (Herzog et al., 2001). Later, NP-1 is preferentially expressed in arterial ECs, while NP-2 is expressed in venous and lymphatic ECs (Herzog et al., 2001; Yuan et al., 2002). Overexpression of NP-1 in transgenic mice resulted in excess capillary formation, blood vessel dilation, and extensive hemorrhage (Kitsukawa et al., 1995). Mice defective of NP-1 die at around E13 with both severe neuronal defects and disturbed blood vascular development (Kawasaki et al., 1999; Kitsukawa et al., 1997). On the other hand, NP-2 deficint mice are viable and only have mild neuronal defects and lack small lymphatic capillaries, while blood vessels and larger lymphatic vessels are intact (Chen et al., 2000; Giger et al., 2000; Yuan et al., 2002). Double knockout of both NP-1 and -2 leads to defects in vasculogenesis and a failure to assemble the primary vascular plexus (Takashima et al., 2002).

Heparan sulphate proteoglycans

Heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPGs) are a constituent of the ECM and plasma membrane. One function of HSPGs is to anchor heparin binding growth factors, thus forming protein gradients and thereby altering ligand availability to their receptors. The longer splice isoforms of the VEGFs, as well as PIGF-2 and VEGF-B₁₆₇, bind heparin and heparan sulphate proteoglycans (HSPG) on the cell surface and in the ECM via a distinct heparin binding domain (Gitay-Goren et al., 1992; Hauser and Weich, 1993; Olofsson et al., 1996b; Persico et al., 1999). Heparin binding sites have also been detected in extracellular domains of both VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, indicating that these receptors may also associate with HSPGs on the cell surface (Cohen et al., 1995; Dougher et al., 1997).

Interaction of VEGF with HSPGs anchor VEGF to the cell surface and ECM and creates a growth factor gradient which is necessary for correct vessel guidance (Ruhrberg et al., 2002). Cell surface HSPGs might induce conformational changes of the receptor or ligand, which modifies their interaction. HSPGs might also take part in the formation of signaling complexes (Yayon et al., 1991) or in enhancing signaling properties (Jakobsson et al., 2006) or protect proteins from proteolytic degradation (Rosengart et al., 1988).

Integrins

Integrins are one of the major families of cell adhesion receptors and are essential for embryonic development, proliferation, survival, adhesion, differentiation, and migration of cells (Brakebusch and Fassler, 2003).

Integrins are heterodimeric transmembrane glycoproteins, composed of non-covalently linked α and β subunits. 18 α and 8 β subunits form 24 known $\alpha\beta$ heterodimers (Hynes, 2002). Most integrin receptors can bind a wide variety of ligands. On the other hand, many extracellular matrix and cell suface adhesion proteins can bind to multiple integrin receptors. Many different integrins have been shown to have important roles in VEGF-induced angiogenesis (Friedlander et al., 1995; Kim et al., 2000; Senger et al., 1997). Integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$ directly

interacts with VEGFR-2, enhancing kinase activity and mitogenic signaling (Borges et al., 2000; Soldi et al., 1999). Mice lacking integrin $\alpha 9\beta 1$ die 6-12 days after birth due to chylothorax, suggesting a role for $\alpha 9\beta 1$ in lymphatic development or function (Huang et al., 2000). VEGF-C and VEGF-D induced migration and adhesion of ECs is shown to be dependent on integrin $\alpha 5\beta 1$ (Vlahakis et al., 2005). The ECM components collagen and fibronectin can, through their binding to $\beta 1$ integrin, stimulate the tyrosine phosphorylation of VEGFR-3 receptor and induce the formation of a $\beta 1$ integrin-VEGFR-3 receptor complex. Furthermore, EC migration requires signals from both the ligand-activated VEGFR-3 and the ECM-activated $\beta 1$ integrin (Wang et al., 2001).

VE-cadherin

Vascular endothelial (VE)-cadherin is the transmembrane component of the adherens junctions specifically in ECs. The vascularization process is arrested in VE-cadherin-deficient embryos at a very primitive stage, indicating that VE-cadherin is required in developmental angiogenesis (Gory-Faure et al., 1999). VE-cadherin associates with VEGFR-2 upon VEGF induction or angiogenic stimulation. This association inhibits VEGFR-2 phosphorylation by phosphatases at cell-cell contacts (Grazia Lampugnani et al., 2003), leading to decreased EC growth and proliferation (Carmeliet et al., 1999; Lambeng et al., 2005). VEGFR-2-VE-cadherin association is needed for VEGF transduced survival signals of ECs via the PI3K/Akt pathway (Carmeliet et al., 1999). VEGF stimulation of VEGFR-2 triggers association with the VE-cadherin-Src complex which leads to Src phosphorylation and then VE-cadherin phosphorylation which again triggers cell-cell disruption (Lambeng et al., 2005).

5. PLATELET-DERIVED GROWTH FACTORS AND THEIR RECEPTORS

Platelet-derived growth factors (PDGF) constitute a family of disulfide-bonded dimeric growth factors: PDGF-AA, -AB, -BB, -CC, and -DD. These factors exert their cellular effects through two tyrosine kinase receptors; the structurally related PDGF α - and β -receptors. The PDGFs contain regularly spaced eight cysteine residues, the cystine knot motif, which is involved in inter- and intramolecular bonds. PDGFs are major mitogens for several cell types of mesenchymal origin and have important functions during development, including regulation of vessel formation and control of the development of organs, e.g. the lung and kidney (reviewed in Betsholtz, 2004).



Figure 2. Receptor binding of PDGF family members to the PDGFRs.

PDGF-A and PDGF-B

PDGF was purified from platelets in the 1970s and was later found to consist of a PDGF-A and -B chain, which can act as homodimers or heterodimers. PDGF-AA activates only the PDGFR- $\alpha\alpha$ receptor while PDGF-BB and the heterodimer PDGF-AB activate all three PDGFR variants, PDGFR- $\alpha\alpha$, $-\alpha\beta$ and $-\beta\beta$ (reviewed in Betsholtz, 2004). The aminoterminal prodomains of these proteins are cleaved intracellularly and are secreted in an active form (reviewed in Heldin and Westermark, 1999). Both the A- and B- chains involve a basic sequence, which mediates interactions with ECM components and may act as a retention signal (Kelly et al., 1993; LaRochelle et al., 1992). PDGF is synthesized by many different cell types, such as fibroblasts, vSMCs, ECs, and macrophages (reviewed in Heldin and Westermark, 1999). Most cell types expressing PDGF make both A- and B-chains, but the expression of the two chains are independently regulated at the transcriptional as well as posttranscriptional levels (reviewed in Dirks and Bloemers, 1995).

Deletion of PDGF-A in mice leads to defective development of alveoli of the lung (Lindahl et al., 1997b). Loss of PDGF-A also results in a reduced number of intestinal villi. Secretion of PDGF-A from intestinal epitelium induces proliferation of PDGFR- α expressing mesenchymal cells (Karlsson et al., 2000). PBGF-B is expressed mainly in the developing vasculature and has a critical role in the recruitment of PCs to new blood vessels. ECs of arteries and angiogenic vessel sprouts secrete PDGF-B, which induces proliferation and migration of PDGFR- $\beta\beta$ expressing vascular SMCs and PCs (reviewed in von Tell et al., 2006). The deletion of PDGF-B in mice leads to embryonic death due to vascular and renal dysfunction (Lindahl et al., 1997a).

PDGF-C and PDGF-D

PDGF-C and PDGF-D are the most recently discovered growth factors in the PDGF family (Bergsten et al., 2001; LaRochelle et al., 2001; Li et al., 2000; Tsai et al., 2000). While the classical PDGF-A and PDGF-B primarily encode the growth factor domain, PDGF-C and PDGF-D encode a unique two-domain structure with N-terminal complement subcomponents C1r/C1s, urchin endothelial growth factor (EGF)-like protein and bone morphogenic protein 1 (CUB) domain (Bork and Beckmann, 1993), in addition to the C-teminal growth factor domain. PDGF-C and PDGF-D proteins form only homodimers as proteins (Bergsten et al., 2001; Li et al., 2000). PDGF-CC activates the PDGFR-αα and - $\alpha\beta$, while PDGF-DD is regarded as PDGFR- $\beta\beta$ specific (Bergsten et al., 2001; Gilbertson et al., 2001; LaRochelle et al., 2001; Li et al., 2000). Knock-out studies of PDGF-C have shown that PDGF-C has a specific role in palatogenesis and in morphogenesis of the skin (Ding et al., 2004). A PDGF-D knockout has not been reported. PDGF-C and PDGF-D have been shown to have broad expression patterns and to have potentially important roles during normal embryogenesis and maintenance of adult tissues, as well as in various pathological conditions such as renal disease, fibrosis, and cancer (reviewed in Reigstad et al., 2005).

PDGFR-α and PDGFR-β

PDGFR- α and - β have a molecular size of 170 kDa and 180 kDa, respectively, and consist of five extracellular immunoglobulin-like domains and an intracellular tyrosine kinase domain (Claesson-Welsh, 1989; Matsui et al., 1989). The receptors dimerize upon growth factor binding and can form both homo- and heterodimeric receptor complexes (Kanakaraj et al., 1991). PDGFRs are present on connective tissue cells such as fibroblasts and vSMCs, but they have also been detected on other cell types (Heldin and Westermark, 1999). PDGF receptor signaling is associated with various pathological conditions, including different fibrotic diseases and various vasculoproliferative diseases (reviewed in Bonner, 2004; Raines, 2004).

Deletion of either PDGFR leads to embryonic lethality. PDGFR- α appears to be needed for promoting the proliferation of precursor populations in cell types including lung alveolar SMCs, oligodendrocytes, intestinal villi, and dermal papillae (Lindahl, 1998). PDGFR- β null animals have severe defects in the vSMC and PC populations, similar to PDGF-B deficient mice. The most severely affected of this cell type are vSMCs and PCs in different organs such as the brain, heart, kidney, skin, and eye (Lindahl et al., 1997a; Lindahl, 1998; Soriano, 1994).

AIMS OF THE STUDY

This study was undertaken to address the role of VEGFR specific signaling in angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. The specific aims for the study were:

Ι	To study VEGFR-2 induced vessel formation and establishment by PDGF-D
II	To clarify the role of VEGFR-2 in lymphangiogenesis and to study angiogenesis mediated by specific VEGFR-1 or VEGFR-2 stimulation
III	To study inhibition of VEGFR-3 postnatally under normal conditions and VEGFR-3 ligand dependency on postnatal lymphatic vessel maturation
IV	To investigate the effects of a small-molecular tyrosine kinase inhibitor, AZD2171, on lymphangiogenesis

MATERIALS AND METHODS

The materials and methods are described in detail in the original publications, which are here referred to using Roman numerals.

Production and use of adeno-associated viruses (I)

Full-length VEGF-E, full-length and short-form of PDGF-D, full-length PDGF-B and human serum albumin cDNAs were cloned into the AAV vector. Recombinant AAVs were produced as described previously and tested *in vitro* using metabolically labeled cell lysates with analysis by immunoprecipitation and SDS-PAGE.

Fifty microliters purified AAV (5 x 10^{11} genomic particles/ml) was injected into the subcutis of the ear or the gastrocnemius muscle of FVB/n or NMRI nu/nu mice. Four weeks later, the mice were sacrificed and the tissues were analyzed.

The blood vessels in whole mount preparations of the AAV-transduced mouse skin were visualized using antibodies against BECs (PECAM-1) and vSMCs (SMA). The results of the whole mount analysis were confirmed by staining frozen or paraffin embedded tissue sections with antibodies against BECs (PECAM-1), vSMCs (SMA), and macrophages (F4/80). Blood vessel permeability was studied by comparing vascular leakage in ear skin after intravenous injection of a fluorescent dye.

Generation and analysis of K14-PDGF-D transgenic mice (I)

Human PDGF-D cDNA was cloned into the K14 promoter expression vector. A 5 ng/ml solution of the DNA was injected into fertilized eggs of the FVB/n-strain of mice, and the resultant transgenic mice were maintained in this strain. For the analysis of transgene expression, we examined PDGF-D mRNA levels by northern blot and protein expression by immunohistochemistry using anti-PDGF-D antibodies.

The skin was analyzed by immunohistochemistry using antibodies against BECs (PECAM-1), smooth muscle cells (SMA), lymphatic vessels (VEGFR-3 and LYVE-1), hematopoietic cells (CD45), T-lymphocytes (CD3), B-lymphocytes (B-220), granulocytes (Ly-6G), and macrophages (F4/80). Interstitial fluid pressure was measured from the skin by using the modified Wick technique. The function of skin lymphatic vessels was analyzed by fluorescent microlymphangiography.

To investigate the possible role for PDGF-D in wound healing, two circular wounds were made on both sides of the back of the mice using a 5 mm punch-biopsy tool. The wounds were allowed to heal for up to 10 days, after which the mice were sacrifized and the wounds were collected. Sections of the wounds were stained with haematoxylin and eosin. To evaluate the amount of connective tissue in skin and wound, the samples were stained with Van Gieson and Masson trichrome stains.

Analysis of blood and lymphatic vessels (II- IV)

The blood and lymphatic vessels in whole mount preparations of mouse tissue were visualized using antibodies against BECs (PECAM-1 and VEGFR-2), SMCs (SMA), or LECs (LYVE-1 and VEGFR-3).

Staged embryos of the different transgenic mice mated in the VEGFR-2+/LacZ or VEGFR-3+/LacZ background were stained for β-galactosidase activity at 37°C.

The results from the whole mount analysis were confirmed by staining frozen or paraffin embedded tissue sections with antibodies against BECs, smooth muscle cells, inflammatory cells (CD11b), LECs, or the proliferation marker BrdU.

The effects of VEGFs on blood vessel permeability were studied by comparing vascular leakage in transgenic mouse ear skin after an intravenous injection of Evans blue dye or FITC-dextran. Microcirculation was measured from the base of the ear by a laser-doppler flowmeter. The function of skin lymphatic vessels was analyzed by fluorescent microlymphangiography.

Cell stimulation and western blot analysis (II)

Porcine aortic endothelial (PAE) cells stably overexpressing VEGFR-2 or VEGFR-3 were starved overnight in serum-free medium and incubated for 20 min with soluble VEGFR-2-Ig or VEGFR-3-Ig fusion proteins or rat monoclonal antibodies against human VEGFR-2 at a concentration of 1 μ g/ml. The cells were then stimulated for 10 min with recombinant VEGF-E or VEGF-C, lysed, and immunoprecipitated with antibodies against VEGFR-3 or VEGFR-2. Phosphotyrosine-specific antibodies and antibodies against VEGFR-2 or VEGFR-3 were used for detection of proteins in western blot.

Generation and use of recombinant adenoviruses (II, III, IV)

Full length VEGF-E cDNA was cloned into the pAdapt vector. The adenoviruses encoding VEGF-E, VEGF164, VEGF165, VEGF-C, VEGFR-2-Ig, VEGFR-3-Ig, and nuclear-targeted LacZ were produced as previously described. Analysis of protein expression was performed *in vitro* using metabolically labeled cell lysates and immunoprecipitation with SDS-PAGE.

Lymphatic sprouting inhibition studies with adenoviruses (II)

2.5 x 10^8 pfu of recombinant adenoviruses encoding VEGF-C, VEGF-E, VEGF164, VEGF165, or LacZ were injected intradermally into female NMRI nu/nu mice. The skin was analyzed 4 days later. For inhibition experiments, 1 x 10^9 pfu of VEGFR-3-Ig or LacZ adenoviruses were injected intravenously 3 days prior to the ligand encoding adenoviruses.

For sprouting inhibition experiments, the mice were injected intraperitoneally with 600 μ g of mF4-31C1, a rat monoclonal antibody against mouse VEGFR-3, DC101, a rat monoclonal antibody against mouse VEGFR-2, or rat IgG every second day in a volume of 200 μ l. One day later, 2.5 x 10⁸ pfu of recombinant adenoviruses encoding VEGF-C, VEGF-C156S, VEGF-E, or LacZ were injected intradermally into the ears of the same mice. The lymphatic and blood vessels in the skin were analyzed by whole mount stainings and immunohistochemistry as described above.

Matings and analysis of transgenic mice (II)

The single transgenic mice used in this study were all previously published. The aim was to study the angiogenic and lymphangiogenic effects of overexpression of different VEGFR-

specific ligands alone and in combinations. The growth factors were expressed under the K14-promoter, which has been shown to target expression of transgenes appropriately to cells of squamous epithelia. The heterozygous VEGFR-2+/LacZ and VEGFR-3+/LacZ mice were used for visualization of VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 expression in blood and lymphatic vessels. All the mouse strains used are listed in Table 2. The analysis of blood and lymphatic vessels in the mice were analyzed as described above.

Mouse line	Reference
K14-VEGF-E	(Kiba et al., 2003)
K14-PlGF	(Odorisio et al., 2002)
K14-VEGF-C156S	(Veikkola et al., 2001)
K14-VEGFR-3-Ig	(Makinen et al., 2001a)
K14-VEGF-D	(Veikkola et al., 2001)
VEGFR-2+/LacZ	(Shalaby et al., 1995)
VEGFR-3+/LacZ	(Dumont et al., 1998)
K14-VEGF165	(Zheng et al., 2006)
K14-VEGF-C	(Jeltsch et al., 1997)
$K14-VEGF-E \times K14-PIGF$	II
K14-VEGF-E × K14-VEGF-C156S	II
K14-VEGF-E × K14-VEGFR-3-Ig	II
K14-VEGF-E × VEGFR-2+/LacZ	Π
K14-VEGF-E × VEGFR-3+/LacZ	Π

Table 2. Transgenic mice lines used in study II.

Treatment of mice with adenovirus-encoded ligand traps, blocking antibodies, or recombinant proteins (III)

The transgenic mice used in the study were VEGFR-3+/LacZ, K14-VEGF-C, K14-VEGF-C (156S, and K14-VEGF-D mice and they have all been described previously. NMRI nu/nu and nu/+ mice were from obtained from Harlan.

One-, four-, or seven-day-old mouse pups were injected intraperitoneally with 5×10^8 pfu and mice 14 days or older with 1×10^9 pfu of AdVEGFR-3-Ig, AdVEGFR-2-Ig, AdLacZ, or PBS. Mice were injected intraperitoneally once a day or every second day with 30 mg/kg or 60 mg/kg of mF4-31C1, a rat monoclonal antibody against mouse VEGFR-3 that blocks ligand binding; 25 mg/kg of recombinant VEGFR-3-Ig fusion protein; 20 mg/kg AFL4, a rat monoclonal antibody against mouse VEGFR-3 that blocks ligand binding; or control antibodies in a volume of 20 to 100 µl. Mice were sacrificed at different time points and analysis of lymphatic and blood vessels was done using whole mount stainings, immunohistochemistry and lymphangiography as described above.

To test VEGFR-3-Ig binding properties, sera obtained from AdVEGFR-3-Ig-transduced mice were used to precipitate metabolically labeled VEGF-C from the conditioned medium of VEGF-C-transfected 293T cells.

Systemic half-life measurement of mF4-31C1 and VEGFR-3-Ig (III)

Female nu/nu mice were injected intraperitoneally with 20 mg/kg of mF4-31C1 or intravenously with 10 μ g of recombinant VEGFR-3-Ig protein and blood samples were collected at the indicated time points. Plasma concentration of mF4-31C1 or VEGFR-3-Ig was determined using an enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay. The change in optical density was measured using a microplate reader. Pharmacokinetic parameters of mF4-31C1 were calculated by noncompartmental analysis using the WinNonlin program.

Cell stimulation, co-precipitation, and proliferation assays (IV)

For the receptor phosphorylation studies, HDMVECs were plated on 15-cm dishes pretreated with human fibronectin and grown to confluency. The cells were serum starved overnight at 37°C. AZD2171 or DMSO as a control were added to the cells and incubation carried out for 15 min at 37°C. VEGFC-156S, VEGF-E or BSA (control protein) was added to the cells at a final concentration of 500 ng/ml and the cells incubated at 37°C for 10 min. Following stimulation the cells were lysed and immunoprecipitated with anti-VEGFR-2 or anti-VEGFR-3 antibodies and analyzed by western blot. The phosphorylation of the receptors was detected using the anti-phosphotyrosine antibody.

For detection of downstream signaling mediators of VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3 activity, HDMVECs were grown to confluency on fibronectin coated 10 cm dishes. The cells were serum-starved overnight and DMSO or AZD2171 was added and cells incubated as above before stimulation with VEGF-C156S or VEGF-E. Detection was carried out from cell lysates by western blot using anti-phospho-p44/42 MAPK, anti-phospho-Akt, and anti-phospho-CREB and anti- α -Actin antibodies.

For EC proliferation assay, the HDMVECs were seeded on fibronectin coated glass coverslips and grown to near-confluency. The medium was replaced with serum-free medium and the cells treated with the AZD2171 compound or DMSO for 15 min followed by the addition of VEGF-E or VEGF-C156S at 500 ng/ml. The incubation was continued for 20 hours. The last hour of incubation was carried out with 50 μ M BrdU supplemented to the media. The cells were fixed and stained. Replicating nuclei were detected using the anti-BrdU antibody and LECs distinguished from BECs using the LYVE-1 antibody.

Inhibition of adenovirally or tumor cell-induced lymphangiogenesis and angiogenesis by the tyrosine kinase inhibitor AZD2171 (IV)

5 x 10^8 pfu of recombinant adenoviruses encoding VEGF-C, VEGF-C156S, VEGF-E, nuclear targeted *LacZ*, or GFP-tagged LNM35 (human non-small cell lung adenocarcinoma) cells suspended in Matrigel at a concentration of 2×10^5 cells/10µl were injected intradermally into 6-8 weeks old male NMRI nu/nu mice. The tyrosine inhibitor AZD2171 or 1% polysorbate (control vehicle) were given orally to the same mice once a day. The skin was analyzed 6 days later for the adenovirus treated ears and 7 days later for the tumor implanted ears. The ears were prepared for whole mount staining to visualize lymphatic and blood vessels as described above.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The main results of the studies are summarized here. The results are presented and discussed in more detail in the accompanying original publications, which are here referred to using Roman numerals.

PDGF-D in blood vessel maturation and macrophage accumulation (I)

Despite its promise for treating ischemic diseases, VEGF can induce the growth of aberrant blood vessels and this could limit its therapeutic utility. In addition, some animal experiments have indicated that instead of stimulating angiogenesis, constant delivery of high levels of VEGF can result in the development of vascular malformations or hemangiomas (Dor et al., 2002; Lee et al., 2000; Pettersson et al., 2000).

Genes with sequence homology to VEGF have been discovered in Orf viruses and in pseudocowpox viruses. These virus-encoded VEGFs, commonly named VEGF-E, specifically bind VEGFR-2 but not VEGFR-1, and although VEGF-E does not play a role in vascular physiology, it can be used in experimental models to study VEGFR-2 specific responses *in vitro* and *in vivo*. VEGF-E has a strong angiogenic effect in transgenic mice (Kiba et al., 2003). We wanted to determine if we could obtain the same effect in a more therapeutially applicable model using recombinant AAVs.

AAVs encoding VEGF-E, PDGF-B, or PDGF-D were generated and shown to produce active transgene-encoded proteins in infected cell cultures. AAV-VEGF-E indeed induced a strong angiogenic effect when injected into mouse ear or into gastrocnemius muscle. On the other hand, neither PDGF-B nor PDGF-D had any angiogenic effect. Functional analysis of blood vessel permeability showed that VEGF-E induced blood vessels were leaky and the smooth muscle cell layer that surrounds the larger arteries and veins was irregular, presumably the cause for the vascular leakage. Interestingly, when we used combinations of AAV-VEGF-E and either AAV-PDGF-B or AAV-PDGF-D, the vascular leakage was significantly reduced and the smooth muscle cell layer appeared normal. This indicates that PDGF-D and PDGF-B are capable of stabilizing newly formed vessels through their effects on the SMCs.

The PDGF-D induced stabilization of VEGF-E induced new blood vessels was also confirmed in transgenic mice. When K14-VEGF-E mice (Kiba et al., 2003) were mated with the K14-PDGF-D mice the leakiness was reduced similar to the results obtained with the AAVs (M. Wirzenius and M. Uutela, unpublished data)

To study the biologic functions mediated by PDGF-D, we also created transgenic mice where full-length PDGF-D was expressed under the control of the K14 promoter in the basal epidermal keratinocytes. Our results show that overexpression of PDGF-D in skin increased macrophage recruitment into the unperturbed skin and that this effect was enhanced during the wound healing process. Previous studies have shown that PDGF-B induces macrophage migration through PDGFR- β (Siegbahn et al., 1990) although PDGF-D appeared to be more potent in stimulation of these cells.

The K14-PDGF-D mice also displayed increased interstitial fluid pressure (IFP), consistent with the fact that PDGFR- β is essential for the maintenance of steady state IFP (Pietras et al.,

2001). Tumors often have increased IFP, making it more difficult to deliver cancer chemotherapeutics. Using PDGFR- β inhibitors to lower the tumor IFP, and which would simultaneously decrease the SMC coverage of the tumor blood vessels, could have clinical benefits for cancer patients.

Since its discovery six years ago, PDGF-D has been linked to important functions both in embryogenesis and in adult tissues (reviewed in Reigstad et al., 2005). Most information on PDGF-D biology has been obtained from studies using the kidney as a model organ. PDGF-D is a likely candidate for controling the progression of metastatic renal cell carcinoma since its overexpression enhanced tumor progression and metastasis in mice. As a summary, our results indicate that PDGF-D has significant ability to regulate macrophage recruitment and participates in the control of tissue IFP. Both PDGF-D and PDGF-B improve the SMC coating of blood vessels during neoangiogenesis and decrease their permeability, thus being attractive candidates for use in local angiogenic gene therapy.

VEGFR-2 signaling in lymphangiogenesis (II)

Even though VEGF is one of the most important regulators of both physiological and pathological angiogenesis, recent studies have suggested that VEGF also can induce lymphangiogenesis (Hirakawa et al., 2005; Nagy et al., 2002). However, the signaling mechanisms mediating this response have been unclear.

We analyzed the roles of different VEGF receptors in lymphangiogenesis by using adenoviral and transgenic overexpression of VEGF family members in mouse skin, combined with the use of antibodies blocking specific VEGF receptors. In particular, overexpression of PIGF and VEGF-E allowed specific stimulation of VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, respectively. Our data showed that stimulation of VEGFR-2 induces hyperplasia of the lymphatic vessels but very few vessel sprouts in postnatal mice. On the other hand, we could not detect any lymphatic phenotype when only VEGFR-1 was activated by overexpression of PIGF. This indicates that the lymphatic vascular effects induced by overexpression of VEGF, as seen by us and others, are indeed mediated primarily via VEGFR-2.

VEGFR-2 expression has been shown to be high in the endothelial tip cells of blood vessels, which through their filopodia sense the VEGF gradient to guide blood vascular sprouting (Gerhardt et al., 2003). We showed that the sprouting mechanism of lymphatic vessels is not dependent on VEGFR-2 in adults. Overexpression of VEGF-E did not lead to sprouting of lymphatic vessels but rather to circumferential growth. In addition, the sprouting of lymphatic vessels induced by adenoviral VEGF-C could not be blocked with neutralizing antibodies against VEGFR-2. These results suggest that the sprouting mechanisms of lymphatic vessels in adults do not rely on VEGFR-2, and thus differ from those of blood vessels.

Surprisingly, VEGF-E did not induce changes in the lymphatic vasculature during embryonic development. Although VEGF-E stimulated lymphatic vessel enlargement in postnatal mice, we did not detect any increase in the number of lymphatic vessels in the K14-VEGF-E mice at any age of analysis. This indicates that signaling through VEGFR-2 does not induce lymphangiogenesis during embryonic development, but its effects become apparent during the postnatal period upon maturation of blood and lymphatic vessels. One possibility was

that at least some of the hyperplasia was a secondary effect resulting from the vascular leakage promoted by VEGF-E overexpression. The lymphatic hyperplasia started after the effects of VEGF-E in the blood vessels became apparent and both the vascular leakage and the lymphatic hyperplasia could be reduced by PIGF overexpression that apparently reduced blood flow via increased coating of small vessels by SMCs. However, from additional experiments we learned that vascular leakage alone was not sufficient for the hyperplasia, as the lymphatic vessels of the K14-PIGF mice appeared to be normal although their blood vessels were even leakier than those in the K14-VEGF-E mice. We cannot currently explain the late onset of the effects of the K14-VEGF-E transgene despite its high-level expression starting during the embryonic period. It may be speculated that *in vivo* particular pericellular matrix proteins and integrins are required for specific VEGFR-2 activation by VEGF-E and that they are not present until later in development.

We also found that VEGF-E overexpression was not able to rescue the lymphatic regression induced by blocking VEGF-C and VEGF-D. This result indicates that VEGFR-2 cannot substitute for VEGFR-3 signals during the onset of lymphangiogenesis. VEGFR-3 was expressed strongly in lymphatic capillaries, and it was internalized into the lymphatic ECs after adenoviral VEGF-C stimulation, but not after VEGF-E stimulation, suggesting that VEGF-E does not lead to signaling via this receptor. VEGFR-2 was expressed in both lymphatic capillaries and collecting lymphatic vessels in wild-type mice. However, VEGFR-2 was internalized in both types of vessels upon AdVEGF-E or AdVEGF-C transduction, indicating that the receptor was functional.

It is still not clear to what extent the VEGFR-2 stimulated lymphatic effect is primary or secondary. The K14 expression cassette has been shown to target expression of transgenes appropriately to epithelial cells, such as epithelial basal cells of the skin, the cornea, eyelids, ears, tongue, esophagus and forestomach (Nelson and Sun, 1983). We analyzed the blood and lymphatic vasculature also in these organs and found increased angiogenesis, but interestingly no hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels (unpublished data by M. Wirzenius). These results indicate that at least to some extent the lymphatic effects through VEGFR-2 are of secondary character. We have also observed that K14-VEGF-E+PIGF double transgenic mice developed highly vascularized hemangiomas around their mouth. These lesions also contained more and larger lymphatic vessels than the wild type skin taken from the mouth area, presumably secondary to the edema in the snout skin. The K14-VEGF-E+PIGF double transgenic mice were considerably smaller in size than the K14-VEGF-E and K14-PIGF or wild type littermate mice. We also wanted to investigate if the small size of the double K14-VEGF-E+PIGF mice affected the relative weight of the hearts of these mice. The hearts of the double K14-VEGF-E+PIGF mice were significantly bigger in relation to the size of the mice compared to their wild type littermates. The heart sizes of both K14-VEGF-E and K14-PIGF mice were normal. We did not observe any hypertrophy of the hearts of the K14-VEGF-E+PIGF mice and no differences of the blood or lymphatic vasculature between the hearts of the K14-VEGF-E+PIGF mice and their wild type littermates.

In conclusion, we showed here that overexpression of a VEGFR-2 specific ligand induces circumferential hyperplasia of the lymphatic vessels in adult, but not in embryonic skin. However, VEGFR-2 activation is not sufficient for the generation of new lymphatic vessels and it was not able to rescue the lymphatic regression induced by blocking the VEGFR-3 ligands VEGF-C and VEGF-D. These results specify the contribution of the different VEGF receptor pathways to lymphangiogenesis and reveal previously unknown postnatal changes that occur in the sensitivity of both blood and lymphatic vessels towards VEGF family

ligands. Taken together, the VEGF/VEGFR system needs to be strictly controlled during development but also in adult life.

Lymphatic vessels are independent of VEGFR-3 signaling in adults but not during postnatal lymphatic vessel maturation (III)

The spread of cancer cells through lymphatic vessels into regional lymph nodes is commonly the first step in the dissemination of human cancer. A correlation between VEGF-C expression by the primary tumor and metastasis to the sentinel lymph nodes has been reported for several types of human cancers (reviewed in Stacker et al., 2002b). Overexpression of VEGF-C and VEGF-D in experimental tumors has been shown to induce tumor lymphangiogenesis and to promote tumor metastasis (reviwed in Saharinen et al., 2004). Furthermore, VEGF-C/D-induced tumor lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic metastasis can be inhibited by blocking the interaction of VEGFR-3 with its ligands (He et al., 2002; Karpanen et al., 2001).

In this study we treated mice of different ages with adenoviral overexpression of the soluble VEGFR-3-Ig fusion protein, blocking antibodies against VEGFR-3, or recombinant VEGFR-3-Ig fusion proteins. We showed that inhibition of VEGFR-3 signaling results in regression of lymphatic capillaries and medium-sized lymphatic vessels during the first 2 weeks after birth. However, the lymphatic vasculature starts to regenerate by the age of 4 weeks.

Mice heterozygous for *VEGF-C* deficiency (Karkkainen et al., 2004), the Chy mice, which have an inactivating mutation in the *VEGFR-3* gene (Karkkainen et al., 2001), as well as mice expressing VEGFR-3-Ig under a keratin promoter in the skin (Makinen et al., 2001a) are born essentially without lymphatic capillaries, whereas their large collecting lymphatic vessels appear normal. However, in these mice, lymphatic vascular regeneration occurs in the internal organs but not in the skin starting at 2 weeks of age. Postnatal regeneration of lymphatic capillaries in most tissues, including the skin, has also been observed in mice deficient of NP-2 (Yuan et al., 2002), which acts as a co-receptor for VEGF-C. It is not yet known where lymphatic regeneration starts from in these various mice. The large lymphatic vessels in the NP-2-deficient mice and the lymphatic remnants in the AdVEGFR-3-Ig-treated mice could serve as origins of lymphatic sprouting. In contrast, the lymphatic vessels are almost completely absent from the skin of the heterozygous *VEGF-C* gene targeted mice, Chy mice, and K14-VEGFR-3-Ig mice.

Although the VEGF-C/VEGFR-3 pathway is not needed in adult mice for the growth of lymphatic vessels, it is apparently functional, because lymphangiogenesis can be stimulated by VEGF-C, when delivered for example via an adenovirus (Enholm et al., 2001) (Saaristo et al., 2002a). Possible postnatal factors responsible for the VEGF-C/VEGF-D/VEGFR-3-independent pathway could be VEGF (Hirakawa et al., 2005; Nagy et al., 2002), HGF (Kajiya et al., 2005), and the angiopoietins (Tammela et al., 2005b), which have all been shown to stimulate lymphangiogenesis. Another possibility is that the extracellular matrix provides important stabilizing growth-promoting signals for lymphatic vessels in adults, possibly mediated by integrins. It has previously been shown that integrin β 1 can directly interact with VEGFR-3 and modulate its phosphorylation, thus affecting lymphatic EC migration (Wang et al., 2001). Integrin α 9 β 1-deficient mice die 6 to 12 days after birth because of chylothorax caused by a failure of lymphatic vessels, which indicates a crucial

function for integrin $\alpha 9\beta 1$ in lymphatic development (Huang et al., 2000). Indeed, integrin $\alpha 9\beta 1$ was shown to directly bind VEGF-C and VEGF-D and to promote EC adhesion and migration (Vlahakis et al., 2005).

We also used adenoviral VEGFR-2-Ig similar to VEGFR-3-Ig in an attempt to postnatally inhibit the growth of lymphatic or blood vessels. We did not notice any effects on the lymphatic vessels, which could suggest that the VEGFR-2 signaling system in lymphatic vessels is not as active and important in postnatal life, even though signaling through VEGFR-2 has been shown to be involved in postnatal lymphatic vessel growth (Hirakawa et al., 2005; Nagy et al., 2002). Interestingly, we did not notice any effect on the blood vessels either, which is surprising considering that *VEGF* gene deletion or daily administration of VEGFR-1-Ig in postnatal mice has been shown to result in EC apoptosis, leading to severely reduced numbers of blood vessels and increased postnatal lethality (Gerber et al., 1999).

In summary, our study suggests that the blocking of VEGF-C and VEGF-D should be a safe method to inhibit tumor metastasis, because normal lymphatic vessels are not affected by such treatment in adults.

The small-molecular tyrosine kinase inhibitor AZD2171 potently inhibits lymphangiogenesis (IV)

Anti-angiogenic therapy by antibodies against the VEGFR-2 signaling system has been shown to be beneficial for treatment of some solid tumors. In addition, the formation of lymph node metastasis can be inhibited with a soluble form of VEGFR-3 or a monoclonal antibody targeting the receptor (He et al., 2002; Roberts et al., 2006). VEGFR-3 may also have a role in pathological angiogenesis, such as tumor blood vessel formation, and the use of a VEGFR-3 specific antibody has been shown to reduce primary tumor growth (Laakkonen et al., 2007). Inhibition of VEGFR-3 activity will therefore likely be therapeutically beneficial. The disadvantage of using therapies against specific molecules is the fact that tumors sometimes become resistant to treatment. In addition, the processes mediating cancer growth and progression are complex and involve a number of molecules. Inhibitors targeting multiple molecules or pathways could make it more difficult for the tumors to become resistant and therefore these drugs could be more efficacious.

AZD2171 is an indole-ether quinazoline, which competes for ATP binding on the catalytic domain of VEGFR-2, and has been shown to be an effective inhibitor of VEGF-induced signaling and angiogenesis, with additional activity against VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-3 (Wedge et al., 2005). In this study we used the specific VEGFR-2 ligand VEGF-E and the specific VEGFR-3 ligand VEGF-C156S to compare the ability to AZD2171 to block signaling from the main angiogenic and lymphangiogenic receptors. Activation of VEGFR-2 in primary human ECs by VEGF-E results in autophosphorylation of the receptor as well as increased phosphorylation of downstream signaling molecules and increased cellular functions such as proliferation, survival, migration, and tube formation. Specific activation of VEGFR-3 by VEGF-C156S results in a similar cascade of signaling events all of which could be blocked with the same dose of AZD2171 required for inhibition of VEGFR-2 activity. These results demonstrate that AZD2171 has comparable inhibitory activity against VEGFR-2 and VEGFR-3-induced cell phenotypes, and cells dependent on signaling from either receptor would be inhibited by similar doses of AZD2171.

In vivo, stimulation of VEGFR-2 by VEGF-E results in increased angiogenesis as well as lymphatic vessel enlargement. Similar to the effects of VEGF-C, VEGF-C156S induces lymphangiogenesis *in vivo*. Once daily oral treatment with AZD2171 was sufficient to block VEGF-E induced neovascularization as well as VEGF-C and VEGF-C156S induced lymphagiogenesis *in vivo*. These results suggest that physiological and pathological processes dependent on VEGFR-2 or VEGFR-3 driven angiogenesis or lymphangiogenesis would be equally affected by AZD2171 treatment. To investigate tumor cell induced lymphangiogenesis, we injected the human lung carcinoma cell line LNM35 subcutneously into the mouse ear. We observed the formation of lymphatic vessels around the VEGF-C expressing tumor cells, but lymphatic vessel formation was inhibited with AZD2171 treatment.

Tumor progression involves a number of processes each of which may be mediated by a number of different molecules. Tumor-induced neovascularization is a complex event and may require inhibition of more than one molecule. Small molecular tyrosine kinase inhibitors such as AZD2171 are therefore attractive for their ability to block activity of multiple targets. These results indicate that AZD2171 may prove beneficial in the clinics, not only by inhibiting new tumor blood vessel growth, but also by preventing the spread of cancer cells through simultaneous inhibition of tumor-associated lymphangiogenesis.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Both blood and lymphatic vessels have been identified to play an important role in several physiological and pathological conditions and the capability to control their growth is of great importance. While anti-angiogenic therapy could be useful for patients suffering from increased angiogenesis, as in cancer or some forms of diabetes, stimulation of angiogenesis could be useful for patients suffering from heart ischemia or diabetes-related ischemia in the extremities. Similarly, while anti-lymphangiogenic therapy may be beneficial in preventing further cancer cell spread via lymphatic vessels, stimulation of lymphangiogenesis might help patients with hereditary or surgery-related lymphedema.

In the present study we have further characterized the VEGFR specific effects on angiogenesis as well as lymphangiogenesis by overexpressing different VEGFR specific ligand. We showed that while stimulation of blood vessels by the VEGFR-2 specific ligand VEGF-E lead to new and extremely permeable blood vessels, a combination of VEGF-E and either PDGF-B or PDGF-D leads to mature functional vessels. In addition, we showed that overexpression of VEGF-E induces circumferential hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in the adult, while the VEGFR-1 specific ligand PIGF did not have any effect on lymphatic vessels. However, VEGFR-2 activation alone was not sufficient for the generation of new lymphatic vessels and it was not able to rescue the lymphatic regression induced by blocking the VEGFR-3 ligands VEGF-C and VEGF-D. Our results suggest that the sprouting mechanisms of lymphatic vessels in adults do not rely on VEGFR-2, and thus differ from those of blood vessels. These results specify the contribution of the different VEGF receptor pathways to lymphangiogenesis and reveal previously unknown postnatal changes that occur in the sensitivity of both blood and lymphatic vessels towards the VEGF family of ligands.

A challenge for future research is to find out why some members of the VEGF growth factor family are activated early during development while others are activated only later in postnatal life. Why does overexpression of VEGF-D not induce lymphangiogenesis during embryogenic development while VEGF-C does, even though their functions are both primarily mediated by VEGFR-3? Why does VEGFR-2 stimulation by VEGF-E not induce angiogenesis prenatally while VEGFR-1 stimulation by PIGF does? Can the growth factors and their receptors utilize alternative signaling systems and if so, what are these other systems? This could shed light on why for example some tumors become resistant to anti-angiogenic therapy. How these different growth factors and receptors work during pathological conditions is only starting to be elucidated.

The members of the VEGF family and their receptors appear to provide promising and versatile targets for the therapeutic manipulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis and the pathological situations associated with them. Therefore it's extremely important to acquire a deeper understanding of the basic mechanisms connected with the different VEGF growth factors and their receptors and how they are involved in angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Only this can result in the discovery of new therapies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This work was carried out at the Molecular/Cancer Biology Laboratory, Haartman Institute and Biomedicum Helsinki, University of Helsinki. I would like to thank my supervisor Professor Kari Alitalo for giving me the opportunity to work in his lab and for introducing me to the world of biomedical research. I am grateful for the opportunities provided by the Helsinki Biomedical Graduate School and I am especially thankful to Marikki Laiho and Päivi Ojala for supporting me during the whole studies as my thesis committee members. I warmly thank Karl Lemström and Lauri Eklund for their careful review of my thesis in such a tight time schedule.

This study would not have been possible without collaboration with several people both inside and outside the M/CBL. I warmly thank all my collaborators, especially Marko for friendship and great fun during the close collaboration. I thank Terhi for her patience and friendly attitude during all those long working hours and Caroline for always being kind and helpful. Caroline is also thanked for providing valuable comments on the thesis as well as introducing me to the Great Coffee.

I warmly thank ALL past and present members of the M/CBL for collaboration, help and for sharing good times both inside and outside the lab. It has really been a privilege to get to know so many great people! My special thanks go to Paula, Marja and Camilla. From the day 1 in the lab a long, long time ago, you have always been there when I needed help in scientific problems as well as other more important matters. Without your friendship and support (and the Friday coffee and cake) the last months would have been much much tougher for me.

All my friends and relatives are thanked for the great time outside the lab. I am ever grateful to all my dear friends for still being around after these tough years. Particularly I want to thank my long-lasting friends Nina, Elin, Isa and Micki for all the fun, but also for all the care and encouragement. Why would you want to be a k-i-k, when you can prioritize and be a p-b?:)

My very special thank goes to my parents Anna-Liisa and Anders, for their love and support and for always staying by my choices and believing in me, even the times I didn't do it myself. My brothers Johan and Henrik as well as Åsa, little Caesar, Usva and my more recent family, the Lindells, are thanked for all the caring and happy moments shared together. Bella and Nana, my crazy cats, are acknowledged for bringing so much joy into my everyday life.

Most of all I thank René, my soulmate, for his support, patience and unconditional love.

I have been financially supported by the Biomedical Graduate School, the Finnish Cancer Organizations, the K. Albin Johansson Foundation, the Einar and Karin Stroem Foundation, the Biomedicum Helsinki Foundation, Svenska kulturfonden and Nylands Nation.

Helsinki, May 2007

REFERENCES

- Aase, K., Lymboussaki, A., Kaipainen, A., Olofsson, B., Alitalo, K., and Eriksson, U. (1999). Localization of VEGF-B in the mouse embryo suggests a paracrine role of the growth factor in the developing vasculature. Dev Dyn 215, 12-25.
- Aase, K., von Euler, G., Li, X., Ponten, A., Thoren, P., Cao, R., Cao, Y., Olofsson, B., Gebre-Medhin, S., Pekny, M., et al. (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor-B-deficient mice display an atrial conduction defect. Circulation 104, 358-364.
- Achen, M. G., Jeltsch, M., Kukk, E., Makinen, T., Vitali, A., Wilks, A. F., Alitalo, K., and Stacker, S. A. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor D (VEGF-D) is a ligand for the tyrosine kinases VEGF receptor 2 (Flk1) and VEGF receptor 3 (Flt4). Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95, 548-553.
- Alon, T., Hemo, I., Itin, A., Pe'er, J., Stone, J., and Keshet, E. (1995). Vascular endothelial growth factor acts as a survival factor for newly formed retinal vessels and has implications for retinopathy of prematurity. Nature Med 1, 1024-1028.
- Arap, W., Kolonin, M. G., Trepel, M., Lahdenranta, J., Cardo-Vila, M., Giordano, R. J., Mintz, P. J., Ardelt, P. U., Yao, V. J., Vidal, C. I., *et al.* (2002). Steps toward mapping the human vasculature by phage display. Nat Med 8, 121-127.
- Armulik, A., Abramsson, A., and Betsholtz, C. (2005). Endothelial/pericyte interactions. Circ Res 97, 512-523.
- Autiero, M., Waltenberger, J., Communi, D., Kranz, A., Moons, L., Lambrechts, D., Kroll, J., Plaisance, S., De Mol, M., Bono, F., *et al.* (2003). Role of PIGF in the intra- and intermolecular cross talk between the VEGF receptors Flt1 and Flk1. Nat Med 9, 936-943.
- Baldwin, M. E., Catimel, B., Nice, E. C., Roufail, S., Hall, N. E., Stenvers, K. L., Karkkainen, M. J., Alitalo, K., Stacker, S. A., and Achen, M. G. (2001). The specificity of receptor binding by vascular endothelial growth factor-d is different in mouse and man. J Biol Chem 276, 19166-19171.
- Baldwin, M. E., Halford, M. M., Roufail, S., Williams, R. A., Hibbs, M. L., Grail, D., Kubo, H., Stacker, S. A., and Achen, M. G. (2005). Vascular endothelial growth factor D is dispensable for development of the lymphatic system. Mol Cell Biol 25, 2441-2449.
- Baluk, P., Tammela, T., Ator, E., Lyubynska, N., Achen, M. G., Hicklin, D. J., Jeltsch, M., Petrova, T. V., Pytowski, B., Stacker, S. A., *et al.* (2005). Pathogenesis of persistent lymphatic vessel hyperplasia in chronic airway inflammation. J Clin Invest 115, 247-257.
- Bellomo, D., Headrick, J. P., Silins, G. U., Paterson, C. A., Thomas, P. S., Gartside, M., Mould, A., Cahill, M. M., Tonks, I. D., Grimmond, S. M., *et al.* (2000). Mice lacking the vascular endothelial growth factor-B gene (Vegfb) have smaller hearts, dysfunctional coronary vasculature, and impaired recovery from cardiac ischemia. Circ Res 86, E29-E35.
- Benjamin, L. E., Golijanin, D., Itin, A., Pode, D., and Keshet, E. (1999). Selective ablation of immature blood vessels in established human tumors follows vascular endothelial growth factor withdrawal. J Clin Invest 103, 159-165.
- Bergsten, E., Uutela, M., Li, X., Pietras, K., Ostman, A., Heldin, C. H., Alitalo, K., and Eriksson, U. (2001). PDGF-D is a specific, protease-activated ligand for the PDGF beta-receptor. Nat Cell Biol *3*, 512-516.
- Betsholtz, C. (2004). Insight into the physiological functions of PDGF through genetic studies in mice. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15, 215-228.
- Blume-Jensen, P., and Hunter, T. (2001). Oncogenic kinase signalling. Nature 411, 355-365.
- Bonner, J. C. (2004). Regulation of PDGF and its receptors in fibrotic diseases. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15, 255-273.
- Borges, E., Jan, Y., and Ruoslahti, E. (2000). Platelet-derived growth factor receptor beta and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 bind to the beta 3 integrin through its extracellular domain. J Biol Chem 275, 39867-39873.
- Bork, P., and Beckmann, G. (1993). The CUB domain. A widespread module in developmentally regulated proteins. J Mol Biol 231, 539-545.
- Brakebusch, C., and Fassler, R. (2003). The integrin-actin connection, an eternal love affair. Embo J 22, 2324-2333.
- Cao, Y., Chen, H., Zhou, L., Chiang, M.-K., Anand-Apte, B., Weatherbee, J. A., Wang, Y., Fang, F., Flanagan, J. G., and Tsang, M. L.-S. (1996). Heterodimers of placenta growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor. J Biol Chem 271, 3154-3162.

Cao, Y., Linden, P., Farnebo, J., Cao, R., Eriksson, A., Kumar, V., Qi, J.-H., Claesson-Welsh, L., and Alitalo, K. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor C induces angiogenesis in vivo. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95, 14389-14394.

Carmeliet, P. (2000). Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. Nat Med 6, 389-395.

- Carmeliet, P. (2003). Angiogenesis in health and disease. Nat Med 9, 653-660.
- Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., Fahrig, M., Vandenhoeck, A., Harpal, K., Ebenhardt, C., *et al.* (1996). Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. Nature 380, 435-439.
- Carmeliet, P., and Jain, R. K. (2000). Angiogenesis in cancer and other diseases. Nature 407, 249-257.
- Carmeliet, P., Lampugnani, M. G., Moons, L., Breviario, F., Compernolle, V., Bono, F., Balconi, G., Spagnuolo, R., Oostuyse, B., Dewerchin, M., *et al.* (1999). Targeted deficiency or cytosolic truncation of the VE-cadherin gene in mice impairs VEGF-mediated endothelial survival and angiogenesis. Cell 98, 147-157.
- Carmeliet, P., Moons, L., Luttun, A., Vincenti, V., Compernolle, V., De Mol, M., Wu, Y., Bono, F., Devy, L., Beck, H., et al. (2001). Synergism between vascular endothelial growth factor and placental growth factor contributes to angiogenesis and plasma extravasation in pathological conditions. Nat Med 7, 575-583.
- Chen, H., Bagri, A., Zupicich, J. A., Zou, Y., Stoeckli, E., Pleasure, S. J., Lowenstein, D. H., Skarnes, W. C., Chedotal, A., and Tessier-Lavigne, M. (2000). Neuropilin-2 regulates the development of selective cranial and sensory nerves and hippocampal mossy fiber projections. Neuron 25, 43-56.
- Chen, L., Hamrah, P., Cursiefen, C., Zhang, Q., Pytowski, B., Streilein, J. W., and Dana, M. R. (2004). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 mediates induction of corneal alloimmunity. Nat Med *10*, 813-815.
- Claesson-Welsh, L., Hammacher, A., Westermark, B., Heldin, C.-H., and Nister, M. (1989). Identification and structural analysis of the A type receptor for platelet derived growth factor. J Biol Chem, 1742-1747.
- Cohen, T., Gitay-Goren, H., Sharon, R., Shibuya, M., Halaban, R., Levi, B. Z., and Neufeld, G. (1995). VEGF121, a vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) isoform lacking heparin binding ability, requires cell-surface heparan sulfates for efficient binding to the VEGF receptors of human melanoma cells. J Biol Chem 270, 11322-11326.
- Conway, E. M., Collen, D., and Carmeliet, P. (2001). Molecular mechanisms of blood vessel growth. Cardiovasc Res 49, 507-521.
- Cursiefen, C., Chen, L., Borges, L. P., Jackson, D., Cao, J., Radziejewski, C., D'Amore, P. A., Dana, M. R., Wiegand, S. J., and Streilein, J. W. (2004). VEGF-A stimulates lymphangiogenesis and hemangiogenesis in inflammatory neovascularization via macrophage recruitment. J Clin Invest 113, 1040-1050.
- Davis, G. E., and Senger, D. R. (2005). Endothelial extracellular matrix: biosynthesis, remodeling, and functions during vascular morphogenesis and neovessel stabilization. Circ Res 97, 1093-1107.
- De Vries, C., Escobedo, J. A., Ueno, H., Houck, K., Ferrara, N., and Williams, L. T. (1992). The *fms*-like tyrosine kinase, a receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. Science 255, 989-991.
- Dejana, E. (2004). Endothelial cell-cell junctions: happy together. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 5, 261-270.
- Ding, H., Wu, X., Bostrom, H., Kim, I., Wong, N., Tsoi, B., O'Rourke, M., Koh, G. Y., Soriano, P., Betsholtz, C., et al. (2004). A specific requirement for PDGF-C in palate formation and PDGFR-alpha signaling. Nat Genet 36, 1111-1116.
- Dirks, R. P., and Bloemers, H. P. (1995). Signals controlling the expression of PDGF. Mol Biol Rep 22, 1-24.
- DiSalvo, J., Bayne, M. L., Conn, G., Kwok, P. W., Trivedi, P. G., Soderman, D. D., Palisi, T. M., Sullivan, K. A., and Thomas, K. A. (1995). Purification and characterization of a naturally occurring vascular endothelial growth factor.placenta growth factor heterodimer. Journal of Biological Chemistry 270, 7717-7723.
- Dixelius, J., Makinen, T., Wirzenius, M., Karkkainen, M. J., Wernstedt, C., Alitalo, K., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2003). Ligand-induced vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 (VEGFR-3) heterodimerization with VEGFR-2 in primary lymphatic endothelial cells regulates tyrosine phosphorylation sites. J Biol Chem 278, 40973-40979.
- Dor, Y., Djonov, V., Abramovitch, R., Itin, A., Fishman, G. I., Carmeliet, P., Goelman, G., and Keshet, E. (2002). Conditional switching of VEGF provides new insights into adult neovascularization and pro-angiogenic therapy. Embo J 21, 1939-1947.

- Dougher, A. M., Wasserstrom, H., Torley, L., Shridaran, L., Westdock, P., Hileman, R. E., Fromm, J. R., Anderberg, R., Lyman, S., Linhardt, R. J., *et al.* (1997). Identification of a heparin binding peptide on the extracellular domain of the KDR VEGF receptor. Growth Factors 14, 257-268.
- Dumont, D. J., Jussila, L., Taipale, J., Lymboussaki, A., Mustonen, T., Pajusola, K., Breitman, M., and Alitalo, K. (1998). Cardiovascular failure in mouse embryos deficient in VEGF receptor-3. Science 282, 946-949.
- Dvorak, H. F., Nagy, J. A., Feng, D., Brown, L. F., and Dvorak, A. M. (1999). Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor and the significance of microvascular hyperpermeability in angiogenesis. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 237, 97-132.
- Ebos, J. M., Bocci, G., Man, S., Thorpe, P. E., Hicklin, D. J., Zhou, D., Jia, X., and Kerbel, R. S. (2004). A naturally occurring soluble form of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2 detected in mouse and human plasma. Mol Cancer Res 2, 315-326.
- Eliceiri, B. P., Paul, R., Schwartzberg, P. L., Hood, J. D., Leng, J., and Cheresh, D. A. (1999). Selective requirement for Src kinases during VEGF-induced angiogenesis and vascular permeability. Mol Cell 4, 915-924.
- Enholm, B., Karpanen, T., Jeltsch, M., Kubo, H., Stenback, F., Prevo, R., Jackson, D. G., Yla-Herttuala, S., and Alitalo, K. (2001). Adenoviral expression of vascular endothelial growth factor-C induces lymphangiogenesis in the skin. Circ Res 88, 623-629.
- Fang, J., Dagenais, S. L., Erickson, R. P., Arlt, M. F., Glynn, M. W., Gorski, J. L., Seaver, L. H., and Glover, T. W. (2000). Mutations in FOXC2 (MFH-1), a forkhead family transcription factor, are responsible for the hereditary lymphedema-distichiasis syndrome. Am J Hum Genet 67, 1382-1388.
- Ferrara, N. (1999a). Molecular and biological properties of vascular endothelial growth factor. J Mol Med 77, 527-543.
- Ferrara, N. (1999b). Vascular endothelial growth factor: molecular and biological aspects. Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 237, 1-30.
- Ferrara, N., Carver-Moore, K., Chen, H., Dowd, M., Lu, L., O'Shea, K. S., Powell-Braxton, L., Hillan, K. J., and Moore, M. W. (1996). Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. Nature 380, 439-442.
- Ferrara, N., and Kerbel, R. S. (2005). Angiogenesis as a therapeutic target. Nature 438, 967-974.
- Ferrell, R. E., Levinson, K. L., Esman, J. H., Kimak, M. A., Lawrence, E. C., Barmada, M. M., and Finegold, D. N. (1998). Hereditary lymphedema: evidence for linkage and genetic heterogeneity. Hum Mol Genet 7, 2073-2078.
- Finegold, D. N., Kimak, M. A., Lawrence, E. C., Levinson, K. L., Cherniske, E. M., Pober, B. R., Dunlap, J. W., and Ferrell, R. E. (2001). Truncating mutations in FOXC2 cause multiple lymphedema syndromes. Hum Mol Genet 10, 1185-1189.
- Folkman, J., Hahnfeldt, P., and Hlatky, L. (2000). Cancer: looking outside the genome. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol 1, 76-79.
- Fong, G. H., Rossant, J., Gertsenstein, M., and Breitman, M. L. (1995). Role of the Flt-1 receptor tyrosine kinase in regulating the assembly of vascular endothelium. Nature 376, 66-70.
- Fong, G. H., Zhang, L., Bryce, D. M., and Peng, J. (1999). Increased hemangioblast commitment, not vascular disorganization, is the primary defect in flt-1 knock-out mice. Development 126, 3015-3025.
- Friedlander, M., Brooks, P. C., Shaffer, R. W., Kincaid, C. M., Varner, J. A., and Cheresh, D. A. (1995). Definition of two angiogenic pathways by distinct alpha v integrins. Science 270, 1500-1502.
- Fuh, G., Garcia, K. C., and de Vos, A. M. (2000). The interaction of neuropilin-1 with vascular endothelial growth factor and its receptor flt-1. J Biol Chem 275, 26690-26695.
- Fuh, G., Li, B., Crowley, C., Cunningham, B., and Wells, J. A. (1998). Requirements for binding and signaling of the kinase domain receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. J Biol Chem 273, 11197-11204.
- Garlanda, C., and Dejana, E. (1997). Heterogeneity of endothelial cells. Specific markers. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 17, 1193-1202.
- Gasmi, A., Abidi, F., Srairi, N., Oijatayer, A., Karoui, H., and Elayeb, M. (2000). Purification and characterization of a growth factor-like which increases capillary permeability from Vipera lebetina venom. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 268, 69-72.
- Gasmi, A., Bourcier, C., Aloui, Z., Srairi, N., Marchetti, S., Gimond, C., Wedge, S. R., Hennequin, L., and Pouyssegur, J. (2002). Complete structure of an increasing capillary permeability protein (ICPP) purified from Vipera lebetina

venom. ICPP is angiogenic via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor signalling. J Biol Chem 277, 29992-29998.

- Gaudreault, J., Fei, D., Rusit, J., Suboc, P., and Shiu, V. (2005). Preclinical pharmacokinetics of Ranibizumab (rhuFabV2) after a single intravitreal administration. Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci 46, 726-733.
- Gerber, H. P., Hillan, K. J., Ryan, A. M., Kowalski, J., Keller, G. A., Rangell, L., Wright, B. D., Radtke, F., Aguet, M., and Ferrara, N. (1999). VEGF is required for growth and survival in neonatal mice. Development *126*, 1149-1159.
- Gerber, H. P., McMurtrey, A., Kowalski, J., Yan, M., Keyt, B. A., Dixit, V., and Ferrara, N. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor regulates endothelial cell survival through the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/Akt signal transduction pathway. Requirement for Flk-1/KDR activation. J Biol Chem 273, 30336-30343.
- Gerhardt, H., Golding, M., Fruttiger, M., Ruhrberg, C., Lundkvist, A., Abramsson, A., Jeltsch, M., Mitchell, C., Alitalo, K., Shima, D., and Betsholtz, C. (2003). VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. J Cell Biol 161, 1163-1177.
- Giger, R. J., Cloutier, J. F., Sahay, A., Prinjha, R. K., Levengood, D. V., Moore, S. E., Pickering, S., Simmons, D., Rastan, S., Walsh, F. S., *et al.* (2000). Neuropilin-2 is required in vivo for selective axon guidance responses to secreted semaphorins. Neuron 25, 29-41.
- Gilbertson, D. G., Duff, M. E., West, J. W., Kelly, J. D., Sheppard, P. O., Hofstrand, P. D., Gao, Z., Shoemaker, K., Bukowski, T. R., Moore, M., *et al.* (2001). Platelet-derived growth factor C (PDGF-C), a novel growth factor that binds to PDGF alpha and beta receptor. J Biol Chem 276, 27406-27414.
- Gille, H., Kowalski, J., Yu, L. L., Chen, H., Pisabarro, M. T., Davis-Smyth, T., and Ferrara, N. (2000). A repressor sequence in the juxtamembrane domain of Flt-1 (VEGFR-1) constitutively inhibits vascular endothelial growth factor-dependent phosphatidylinositol 3 '-kinase activation and endothelial cell migration. EMBO J 19, 4064-4073.
- Gitay-Goren, H., Soker, S., Vlodavsky, I., and Neufeld, G. (1992). The binding of vascular endothelial growth factor to its receptors is dependent on cell surface-associated heparin-like molecules. J Biol Chem 267, 6093-6098.
- Gluzman-Poltorak, Z., Cohen, T., Herzog, Y., and Neufeld, G. (2000). Neuropilin-2 and neuropilin-1 are receptors for the 165-amino acid form of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and of placenta growth factor-2, but only neuropilin-2 functions as a receptor for the 145-amino acid form of VEGF. J Biol Chem 275, 18040-18045.
- Gluzman-Poltorak, Z., Cohen, T., Shibuya, M., and Neufeld, G. (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 and neuropilin-2 form complexes. J Biol Chem 276, 18688-18694.
- Gory-Faure, S., Prandini, M. H., Pointu, H., Roullot, V., Pignot-Paintrand, I., Vernet, M., and Huber, P. (1999). Role of vascular endothelial-cadherin in vascular morphogenesis. Development 126, 2093-2102.
- Gragoudas, E. S., Adamis, A. P., Cunningham, E. T., Jr., Feinsod, M., and Guyer, D. R. (2004). Pegaptanib for neovascular age-related macular degeneration. N Engl J Med 351, 2805-2816.
- Grazia Lampugnani, M., Zanetti, A., Corada, M., Takahashi, T., Balconi, G., Breviario, F., Orsenigo, F., Cattelino, A., Kemler, R., Daniel, T. O., and Dejana, E. (2003). Contact inhibition of VEGF-induced proliferation requires vascular endothelial cadherin, beta-catenin, and the phosphatase DEP-1/CD148. J Cell Biol 161, 793-804.
- Hashizume, H., Baluk, P., Morikawa S., McLean, J.W., Thurston, G., Roberge, S., Jain, R., McDonald, D.M. (2000). Openings between defective endothelial cells explain tumor vessel leakiness. *Am J Pathol* 156, 1363-1380.
- Hattori, K., Heissig, B., Wu, Y., Dias, S., Tejada, R., Ferris, B., Hicklin, D. J., Zhu, Z., Bohlen, P., Witte, L., *et al.* (2002). Placental growth factor reconstitutes hematopoiesis by recruiting VEGFR1(+) stem cells from bone-marrow microenvironment. Nat Med 8, 841-849.
- Hauser, S., and Weich, H. A. (1993). A heparin-binding form of placenta growth factor (PIGF-2) is expressed in human umbilical vein endothelial cells and in placenta. Growth Factors 9, 259-268.
- He, Y., Kozaki, K., Karpanen, T., Koshikawa, K., Yla-Herttuala, S., Takahashi, T., and Alitalo, K. (2002). Suppression of tumor lymphangiogenesis and lymph node metastasis by blocking vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 signaling. J Natl Cancer Inst 94, 819-825.
- Heinl-Green, A., Radke, P. W., Munkonge, F. M., Frass, O., Zhu, J., Vincent, K., Geddes, D. M., and Alton, E. W. (2005). The efficacy of a 'master switch gene' HIF-1alpha in a porcine model of chronic myocardial ischaemia. Eur Heart J 26, 1327-1332.
- Heldin, C.-H., and Westermark, B. (1999). Mechanism of Action and in vivo role of platelet derived growth factor. Physiologigal reviews 79, 1283 - 1316.

- Herzog, Y., Kalcheim, C., Kahane, N., Reshef, R., and Neufeld, G. (2001). Differential expression of neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 in arteries and veins. Mech Dev 109, 115-119.
- Hirakawa, S., Hong, Y. K., Harvey, N., Schacht, V., Matsuda, K., Libermann, T., and Detmar, M. (2003). Identification of vascular lineage-specific genes by transcriptional profiling of isolated blood vascular and lymphatic endothelial cells. Am J Pathol 162, 575-586.
- Hirakawa, S., Kodama, S., Kunstfeld, R., Kajiya, K., Brown, L. F., and Detmar, M. (2005). VEGF-A induces tumor and sentinel lymph node lymphangiogenesis and promotes lymphatic metastasis. J Exp Med 201, 1089-1099.
- Hiratsuka, S., Maru, Y., Okada, A., Seiki, M., Noda, T., and Shibuya, M. (2001). Involvement of Flt-1 tyrosine kinase (vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1) in pathological angiogenesis. Cancer Res *61*, 1207-1213.
- Hiratsuka, S., Minowa, O., Kuno, J., Noda, T., and Shibuya, M. (1998). Flt-1 lacking the tyrosine kinase domain is sufficient for normal development and angiogenesis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A *95*, 9349-9354.
- Holmes, D. I., and Zachary, I. (2005). The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: angiogenic factors in health and disease. Genome Biol 6, 209.
- Holmqvist, K., Cross, M. J., Rolny, C., Hagerkvist, R., Rahimi, N., Matsumoto, T., Claesson-Welsh, L., and Welsh, M. (2004). The adaptor protein shb binds to tyrosine 1175 in vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor-2 and regulates VEGF-dependent cellular migration. J Biol Chem 279, 22267-22275.
- Hristov, M., Erl, W., and Weber, P. C. (2003). Endothelial progenitor cells: isolation and characterization. Trends Cardiovasc Med 13, 201-206.
- Huang, K., Andersson, C., Roomans, G. M., Ito, N., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2001). Signaling properties of VEGF receptor-1 and -2 homo- and heterodimers. Int J Biochem Cell Biol 33, 315-324.
- Huang, X., Molema, G., King, S., Watkins, L., Edgington, T. S., and Thorpe, P. E. (1997). Tumor infarction in mice by antibody-directed targeting of tissue factor to tumor vasculature [see comments]. Science 275, 547-550.
- Huang, X. Z., Wu, J. F., Ferrando, R., Lee, J. H., Wang, Y. L., Farese, R. V., Jr., and Sheppard, D. (2000). Fatal bilateral chylothorax in mice lacking the integrin α9β1. Mol Cell Biol 20, 5208-5215.
- Hubbard, S. R., and Till, J. H. (2000). Protein tyrosine kinase structure and function. Annu Rev Biochem 69, 373-398.
- Hughes, D. C. (2001). Alternative splicing of the human VEGFGR-3/FLT4 gene as a consequence of an integrated human endogenous retrovirus. J Mol Evol 53, 77-79.
- Hungerford, J. E., and Little, C. D. (1999). Developmental biology of the vascular smooth muscle cell: building a multilayered vessel wall. J Vasc Res 36, 2-27.
- Hunter, T. (2000). Signaling--2000 and beyond. Cell 100, 113-127.
- Hurwitz, H. (2004). Integrating the anti-VEGF-A humanized monoclonal antibody bevacizumab with chemotherapy in advanced colorectal cancer. Clin Colorectal Cancer 4 Suppl 2, S62-68.
- Hurwitz, H., Fehrenbacher, L., Novotny, W., Cartwright, T., Hainsworth, J., Heim, W., Berlin, J., Baron, A., Griffing, S., Holmgren, E., *et al.* (2004). Bevacizumab plus irinotecan, fluorouracil, and leucovorin for metastatic colorectal cancer. N Engl J Med 350, 2335-2342.
- Huse, M., and Kuriyan, J. (2002). The conformational plasticity of protein kinases. Cell 109, 275-282.
- Hynes, R. O. (2002). A reevaluation of integrins as regulators of angiogenesis. Nat Med 8, 918-921.
- Inoue, N., Kondo, T., Kobayashi, K., Aoki, M., Numaguchi, Y., Shibuya, M., and Murohara, T. (2007). Therapeutic angiogenesis using novel vascular endothelial growth factor-E/human placental growth factor chimera genes. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27, 99-105.
- Irrthum, A., Devriendt, K., Chitayat, D., Matthijs, G., Glade, C., Steijlen, P. M., Fryns, J. P., Van Steensel, M. A., and Vikkula, M. (2003). Mutations in the transcription factor gene SOX18 underlie recessive and dominant forms of hypotrichosis-lymphedema-telangiectasia. Am J Hum Genet 72, 1470-1478.
- Irrthum, A., Karkkainen, M. J., Devriendt, K., Alitalo, K., and Vikkula, M. (2000). Congenital hereditary lymphedema caused by a mutation that inactivates VEGFR3 tyrosine kinase. Am J Hum Genet 67, 295-301.
- Jain, R. K. (1988). Determinants of tumor blood flow: a review. Cancer Res 48, 2641-2658.

Jain, R. K. (2003). Molecular regulation of vessel maturation. Nat Med 9, 685-693.

- Jain, R. K., Duda, D. G., Clark, J. W., and Loeffler, J. S. (2006). Lessons from phase III clinical trials on anti-VEGF therapy for cancer. Nat Clin Pract Oncol 3, 24-40.
- Jain, R. K., and Padera, T. P. (2002). Prevention and treatment of lymphatic metastasis by antilymphangiogenic therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 94, 785-787.
- Jakobsson, L., Kreuger, J., Holmborn, K., Lundin, L., Eriksson, I., Kjellen, L., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2006). Heparan Sulfate in trans Potentiates VEGFR-Mediated Angiogenesis. Dev Cell 10, 625-634.
- Jeltsch, M., Kaipainen, A., Joukov, V., Meng, X., Lakso, M., Rauvala, H., Swartz, M., Fukumura, D., Jain, R. K., and Alitalo, K. (1997). Hyperplasia of lymphatic vessels in VEGF-C transgenic mice. Science 276, 1423-1425.
- Jiang, G., and Hunter, T. (1999). Receptor signaling: when dimerization is not enough. Curr Biol 9, R568-571.
- Joukov, V., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., Chilov, D., Lahtinen, I., Kukk, E., Saksela, O., Kalkkinen, N., and Alitalo, K. (1996). A novel vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-C, is a ligand for the Flt4 (VEGFR-3) and KDR (VEGFR-2) receptor tyrosine kinases. Embo J 15, 290-298.
- Joukov, V., Sorsa, T., Kumar, V., Jeltsch, M., Claesson-Welsh, L., Cao, Y., Saksela, O., Kalkkinen, N., and Alitalo, K. (1997). Proteolytic processing regulates receptor specificity and activity of VEGF-C. EMBO J 16, 3898-3911.
- Junqueira de Azevedo, I. L., Farsky, S. H., Oliveira, M. L., and Ho, P. L. (2001). Molecular cloning and expression of a functional snake venom vascular endothelium growth factor (VEGF) from the Bothrops insularis pit viper. A new member of the VEGF family of proteins. J Biol Chem 276, 39836-39842.
- Kajiya, K., Hirakawa, S., Ma, B., Drinnenberg, I., and Detmar, M. (2005). Hepatocyte growth factor promotes lymphatic vessel formation and function. Embo J 24, 2885-2895.
- Kanakaraj, P., Raj, S., Khan, S. A., and Bishayee, S. (1991). Ligand-induced interaction between alpha- and beta-type platelet-derived growth factor (PDGF) receptors: role of receptor heterodimers in kinase activation. Biochemistry 30, 1761-1767.
- Karkkainen, M. J., Ferrell, R. E., Lawrence, E. C., Kimak, M. A., Levinson, K. L., McTigue, M. A., Alitalo, K., and Finegold, D. N. (2000). Missense mutations interfere with VEGFR-3 signalling in primary lymphoedema. Nat Genet 25, 153-159.
- Karkkainen, M. J., Haiko, P., Sainio, K., Partanen, J., Taipale, J., Petrova, T. V., Jeltsch, M., Jackson, D. G., Talikka, M., Rauvala, H., *et al.* (2004). Vascular endothelial growth factor C is required for sprouting of the first lymphatic vessels from embryonic veins. Nat Immunol 5, 74-80.
- Karkkainen, M. J., Saaristo, A., Jussila, L., Karila, K. A., Lawrence, E. C., Pajusola, K., Bueler, H., Eichmann, A., Kauppinen, R., Kettunen, M. I., *et al.* (2001). A model for gene therapy of human hereditary lymphedema. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 98, 12677-12682.
- Karlsson, L., Lindahl, P., Heath, J. K., and Betsholtz, C. (2000). Abnormal gastrointestinal development in PDGF-A and PDGFR-(alpha) deficient mice implicates a novel mesenchymal structure with putative instructive properties in villus morphogenesis. Development 127, 3457-3466.
- Karpanen, T., Egeblad, M., Karkkainen, M. J., Kubo, H., Jackson, D. G., Ylä-Herttuala, S., Jäättelä, M., and Alitalo, K. (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor C promotes tumor lymphangiogenesis and intralymphatic tumor growth. Cancer Res 61, 1786-1790.
- Karpanen, T., Heckman, C. A., Keskitalo, S., Jeltsch, M., Ollila, H., Neufeld, G., Tamagnone, L., and Alitalo, K. (2006). Functional interaction of VEGF-C and VEGF-D with neuropilin receptors. Faseb J 20, 1462-1472.
- Karpanen, T., and Makinen, T. (2006). Regulation of lymphangiogenesis-From cell fate determination to vessel remodeling. Exp Cell Res 312, 575-583.
- Katoh, O., Tauchi, H., Kawaishi, K., Kimura, A., and Satow, Y. (1995). Expression of the vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) receptor gene, KDR, in hematopoietic cells and inhibitory effect of VEGF on apoptotic cell death caused by ionizing radiation. Cancer Res 55, 5687-5692.
- Kawasaki, T., Kitsukawa, T., Bekku, Y., Matsuda, Y., Sanbo, M., Yagi, T., and Fujisawa, H. (1999). A requirement for neuropilin-1 in embryonic vessel formation. Development 126, 4895-4902.
- Kelly, J. L., Sanchez, A., Brown, G. S., Chesterman, C. N., and Sleigh, M. J. (1993). Accumulation of PDGF B and cellbinding forms of PDGF A in the extracellular matrix. J Cell Biol 121, 1153-1163.
- Kendall, R. L., and Thomas, K. A. (1993). Inhibition of vascular endothelial cell growth factor activity by an endogenously encoded soluble receptor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 90, 10705-10709.

Kerjaschki, D. (2005). The crucial role of macrophages in lymphangiogenesis. J Clin Invest 115, 2316-2319.

- Kerjaschki, D., Huttary, N., Raab, I., Regele, H., Bojarski-Nagy, K., Bartel, G., Krober, S. M., Greinix, H., Rosenmaier, A., Karlhofer, F., *et al.* (2006). Lymphatic endothelial progenitor cells contribute to de novo lymphangiogenesis in human renal transplants. Nat Med 12, 230-234.
- Keyt, B. A., Nguyen, H. V., Berleau, L. T., Duarte, C. M., Park, J., Chen, H., and Ferrara, N. (1996). Identification of vascular endothelial growth factor determinants for binding KDR and FLT-1 receptors. Generation of receptorselective VEGF variants by site-directed mutagenesis. J Biol Chem 271, 5638-5646.
- Kiba, A., Sagara, H., Hara, T., and Shibuya, M. (2003). VEGFR-2-specific ligand VEGF-E induces non-edematous hypervascularization in mice. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 301, 371-377.
- Kim, S., Bell, K., Mousa, S. A., and Varner, J. A. (2000). Regulation of angiogenesis in vivo by ligation of integrin alpha5beta1 with the central cell-binding domain of fibronectin. Am J Pathol 156, 1345-1362.
- Kitsukawa, T., Shimizu, M., Sanbo, M., Hirata, T., Taniguchi, M., Bekku, Y., Yagi, T., and Fujisawa, H. (1997). Neuropilin-semaphorin III/D-mediated chemorepulsive signals play a crucial role in peripheral nerve projection in mice. Neuron 19, 995-1005.
- Kitsukawa, T., Shimono, A., Kawakami, A., Kondoh, H., and Fujisawa, H. (1995). Overexpression of a membrane protein, neuropilin, in chimeric mice causes anomalies in the cardiovascular system, nervous system and limbs. Development 121, 4309-4318.
- Kolodkin, A. L., Levengood, D. V., Rowe, E. G., Tai, Y. T., Giger, R. J., and Ginty, D. D. (1997). Neuropilin is a semaphorin III receptor. Cell 90, 753-762.
- Komori, Y., Nikai, T., Taniguchi, K., Masuda, K., and Sugihara, H. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor VEGF-like heparin-binding protein from the venom of Vipera aspis aspis (Aspic viper). Biochemistry *38*, 11796-11803.
- Kriehuber, E., Breiteneder-Geleff, S., Groeger, M., Soleiman, A., Schoppmann, S. F., Stingl, G., Kerjaschki, D., and Maurer, D. (2001). Isolation and characterization of dermal lymphatic and blood endothelial cells reveal stable and functionally specialized cell lineages. J Exp Med 194, 797-808.
- Kukk, E., Lymboussaki, A., Taira, S., Kaipainen, A., Jeltsch, M., Joukov, V., and Alitalo, K. (1996). VEGF-C receptor binding and pattern of expression with VEGFR-3 suggests a role in lymphatic vascular development. Development 122, 3829-3837.
- Laakkonen, P., Porkka, K., Hoffman, J. A., and Ruoslahti, E. (2002). A tumor-homing peptide with a targeting specificity related to lymphatic vessels. Nat Med 8, 751-755.
- Laakkonen, P., Waltari, M., Holopainen, T., Takahashi, T., Pytowski, B., Steiner, P., Hicklin, D., Persaud, K., Tonra, J. R., Witte, L., and Alitalo, K. (2007). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 is involved in tumor angiogenesis and growth. Cancer Res 67, 593-599.
- Lambeng, N., Wallez, Y., Rampon, C., Cand, F., Christe, G., Gulino-Debrac, D., Vilgrain, I., and Huber, P. (2005). Vascular endothelial-cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation in angiogenic and quiescent adult tissues. Circ Res 96, 384-391.
- LaRochelle, W. J., Jeffers, M., McDonald, W. F., Chillakuru, R. A., Giese, N. A., Lokker, N. A., Sullivan, C., Boldog, F. L., Yang, M., Vernet, C., et al. (2001). PDGF-D, a new protease-activated growth factor. Nat Cell Biol 3, 517-521.
- LaRochelle, W. J., Pierce, J. H., May-Siroff, M., Giese, N., and Aaronson, S. A. (1992). Five PDGF B amino acid substitutions convert PDGF A to a PDGF B-like transforming molecule. J Biol Chem 267, 17074-17077.
- Lawson, N. D., and Weinstein, B. M. (2002). Arteries and veins: making a difference with zebrafish. Nat Rev Genet 3, 674-682.
- Le Bras, B., Barallobre, M. J., Homman-Ludiye, J., Ny, A., Wyns, S., Tammela, T., Haiko, P., Karkkainen, M. J., Yuan, L., Muriel, M. P., *et al.* (2006). VEGF-C is a trophic factor for neural progenitors in the vertebrate embryonic brain. Nat Neurosci 9, 340-348.
- Lee, J., Gray, A., Yuan, J., Louth, S.-M., Avraham, H., and Wood, W. (1996). Vascular endothelial growth factor-related protein: A ligand and specific activator of the tyrosine kinase receptor Flt4. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93, 1988-1992.
- Lee, R. J., Springer, M. L., Blanco-Bose, W. E., Shaw, R., Ursell, P. C., and Blau, H. M. (2000). VEGF gene delivery to myocardium - Deleterious effects of unregulated expression. Circulation 102, 898-901.
- Lee, S., Jilani, S. M., Nikolova, G. V., Carpizo, D., and Iruela-Arispe, M. L. (2005). Processing of VEGF-A by matrix metalloproteinases regulates bioavailability and vascular patterning in tumors. J Cell Biol *169*, 681-691.

- Li, X., Ponten, A., Aase, K., Karlsson, L., Abramsson, A., Uutela, M., Backstrom, G., Hellstrom, M., Bostrom, H., Li, H., *et al.* (2000). PDGF-C is a new protease-activated ligand for the PDGF alpha-receptor. Nat Cell Biol 2, 302-309.
- Lindahl, P., Hellstrom, M., Kalen, M., Karlsson, L., Pekny, M., Pekna, M., Soriano, P., and Betsholtz, C. (1998). Paracrine PDGF-B/PDGF-Rbeta signaling controls mesangial cell development in kidney glomeruli. Development 125, 3313-3322.
- Lindahl, P., Johansson, B. R., Leveen, P., and Betsholtz, C. (1997a). Pericyte loss and microaneurysm formation in PDGF-B-deficient mice. Science 277, 242-245.
- Lindahl, P., Karlsson, L., Hellstrom, M., Gebre-Medhin, S., Willetts, K., Heath, J. K., and Betsholtz, C. (1997b). Alveogenesis failure in PDGF-A-deficient mice is coupled to lack of distal spreading of alveolar smooth muscle cell progenitors during lung development. Development 124, 3943-3953.
- Lindahl, P. B., C. (1998). Not all myofibroblasts are alike: revisiting the role of PDGF-A and PDGF-B using PDGFtargeted mice. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens 7, 21-26.
- Lowes, V. L., Ip, N. Y., and Wong, Y. H. (2002). Integration of signals from receptor tyrosine kinases and g proteincoupled receptors. Neurosignals 11, 5-19.
- Lyden, D., Hattori, K., Dias, S., Costa, C., Blaikie, P., Butros, L., Chadburn, A., Heissig, B., Marks, W., Witte, L., et al. (2001). Impaired recruitment of bone-marrow-derived endothelial and hematopoietic precursor cells blocks tumor angiogenesis and growth. Nat Med 7, 1194-1201.
- Lyttle, D. J., Fraser, K. M., Fleming, S. B., Mercer, A. A., and Robinson, A. J. (1994). Homologs of vascular endothelial growth factor are encoded by the poxvirus orf virus. J Virol 68, 84-92.
- Maglione, D., Guerriero, V., Viglietto, G., Delli-Bovi, P., and Persico, M. G. (1991). Isolation of a human placenta cDNA coding for a protein related to the vascular permeability factor. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA *88*, 9267-9271.
- Maglione, D., Guerriero, V., Viglietto, G., Ferraro, M. G., Aprelikova, O., Alitalo, K., Del Vecchio, S., Lei, K.-J., Chou, J. Y., and Persico, M. G. (1993). Two alternative mRNAs coding for the angiogenic factor, placenta growth factor (PIGF), are transcribed from a single gene of chromosome 14. Oncogene 8, 925-931.
- Makinen, T., Jussila, L., Veikkola, T., Karpanen, T., Kettunen, M. I., Pulkkanen, K. J., Kauppinen, R., Jackson, D. G., Kubo, H., Nishikawa, S., et al. (2001a). Inhibition of lymphangiogenesis with resulting lymphedema in transgenic mice expressing soluble VEGF receptor-3. Nat Med 7, 199-205.
- Makinen, T., Olofsson, B., Karpanen, T., Hellman, U., Soker, S., Klagsbrun, M., Eriksson, U., and Alitalo, K. (1999). Differential binding of vascular endothelial growth factor B splice and proteolytic isoforms to neuropilin-1. J Biol Chem 274, 21217-21222.
- Makinen, T., Veikkola, T., Mustjoki, S., Karpanen, T., Catimel, B., Nice, E. C., Wise, L., Mercer, A., Kowalski, H., Kerjaschki, D., et al. (2001b). Isolated lymphatic endothelial cells transduce growth, survival and migratory signals via the VEGF-C/D receptor VEGFR-3. Embo J 20, 4762-4773.
- Mandriota, S. J., Jussila, L., Jeltsch, M., Compagni, A., Baetens, D., Prevo, R., Banerji, S., Huarte, J., Montesano, R., Jackson, D. G., *et al.* (2001). Vascular endothelial growth factor-C-mediated lymphangiogenesis promotes tumour metastasis. Embo J 20, 672-682.
- Marconcini, L., Marchio, S., Morbidelli, L., Cartocci, E., Albini, A., Ziche, M., Bussolino, F., and Oliviero, S. (1999). cfos-induced growth factor/vascular endothelial growth factor D induces angiogenesis in vivo and in vitro. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 96, 9671-9676.
- Maruyama, K., Ii, M., Cursiefen, C., Jackson, D. G., Keino, H., Tomita, M., Van Rooijen, N., Takenaka, H., D'Amore, P. A., Stein-Streilein, J., *et al.* (2005). Inflammation-induced lymphangiogenesis in the cornea arises from CD11bpositive macrophages. J Clin Invest 115, 2363-2372.
- Matsui, T., Heideran, M., Miki, T., Popescu, N., La Rochelle, W., Kraus, M., Pierce, J., and Aaronson, S. A. (1989). Isolation of a novel receptor cDNA establishes the existence of two PDGF receptor genes. Science 243, 800-803.
- McColl, B. K., Baldwin, M. E., Roufail, S., Freeman, C., Moritz, R. L., Simpson, R. J., Alitalo, K., Stacker, S. A., and Achen, M. G. (2003). Plasmin activates the lymphangiogenic growth factors VEGF-C and VEGF-D. J Exp Med 198, 863-868.
- Meyer, M., Clauss, M., Lepple-Wienhues, A., Waltenberger, J., Augustin, H. G., Ziche, M., Lanz, C., Böttner, M., Rziha, H.-J., and Dehio, C. (1999). A novel vascular endothelial growth factor encoded by Orf virus, VEGF-E, mediates angiogenesis via signaling through VEGFR-2 (KDR) but not VEGFR-1 (Flt-1) receptor tyrosine kinases. EMBO J 18, 363-374.

- Miao, H. Q., Soker, S., Feiner, L., Alonso, J. L., Raper, J. A., and Klagsbrun, M. (1999). Neuropilin-1 mediates collapsin-1/semaphorin III inhibition of endothelial cell motility: functional competition of collapsin-1 and vascular endothelial growth factor-165. J Cell Biol 146, 233-242.
- Migdal, M., Huppertz, B., Tessler, S., Comforti, A., Shibuya, M., Reich, R., Baumann, H., and Neufeld, G. (1998). Neuropilin-1 is a placenta growth factor-2 receptor. J Biol Chem 273, 22272-22278.
- Mimura, T., Amano, S., Usui, T., Kaji, Y., Oshika, T., and Ishii, Y. (2001). Expression of vascular endothelial growth factor C and vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 in corneal lymphangiogenesis. Exp Eye Res 72, 71-78.
- Morikawa, S., Baluk, P., Kaidoh, T., Haskell, A., Jain, R. K., and McDonald, D. M. (2002). Abnormalities in pericytes on blood vessels and endothelial sprouts in tumors. Am J Pathol 160, 985-1000.
- Nagy, J. A., Vasile, E., Feng, D., Sundberg, C., Brown, L. F., Detmar, M. J., Lawitts, J. A., Benjamin, L., Tan, X., Manseau, E. J., et al. (2002). Vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor induces lymphangiogenesis as well as angiogenesis. J Exp Med 196, 1497-1506.
- Nelson, W. G., and Sun, T. T. (1983). The 50- and 58-kdalton keratin classes as molecular markers for stratified squamous epithelia: cell culture studies. J Cell Biol 97, 244-251.
- Neufeld, G., Cohen, T., Shraga, N., Lange, T., Kessler, O., and Herzog, Y. (2002). The neuropilins: multifunctional semaphorin and VEGF receptors that modulate axon guidance and angiogenesis. Trends Cardiovasc Med 12, 13-19.
- Ny, A., Koch, M., Schneider, M., Neven, E., Tong, R. T., Maity, S., Fischer, C., Plaisance, S., Lambrechts, D., Heligon, C., *et al.* (2005). A genetic Xenopus laevis tadpole model to study lymphangiogenesis. Nat Med *11*, 998-1004.
- Ober, E. A., Olofsson, B., Makinen, T., Jin, S. W., Shoji, W., Koh, G. Y., Alitalo, K., and Stainier, D. Y. (2004). Vegfc is required for vascular development and endoderm morphogenesis in zebrafish. EMBO Rep 5, 78-84.
- Odorisio, T., Schietroma, C., Zaccaria, M. L., Cianfarani, F., Tiveron, C., Tatangelo, L., Failla, C. M., and Zambruno, G. (2002). Mice overexpressing placenta growth factor exhibit increased vascularization and vessel permeability. J Cell Sci 115, 2559-2567.
- Ogawa, S., Oku, A., Sawano, A., Yamaguchi, S., Yazaki, Y., and Shibuya, M. (1998). A novel type of vascular endothelial growth factor, VEGF-E (NZ-7 VEGF) preferentially utilizes KDR/Flk-1 receptor and carries a potent mitotic activity without heparin-binding domain. J Biol Chem 273, 31273-31282.
- Oh, S. J., Jeltsch, M. M., Birkenhager, R., McCarthy, J. E., Weich, H. A., Christ, B., Alitalo, K., and Wilting, J. (1997). VEGF and VEGF-C: specific induction of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis in the differentiated avian chorioallantoic membrane. Developmental Biology 188, 96-109.
- Oliver, G., and Detmar, M. (2002). The rediscovery of the lymphatic system: old and new insights into the development and biological function of the lymphatic vasculature. Genes Dev 16, 773-783.
- Olofsson, B., Korpelainen, E., Pepper, M. S., Mandriota, S. J., Aase, K., Kumar, V., Gunji, Y., Jeltsch, M. M., Shibuya, M., Alitalo, K., and Eriksson, U. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) binds to VEGF receptor-1 and regulates plasminogen activator activity in endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 95, 11709-11714.
- Olofsson, B., Pajusola, K., Kaipainen, A., von Euler, G., Joukov, V., Saksela, O., Orpana, A., Pettersson, R. F., Alitalo, K., and Eriksson, U. (1996a). Vascular endothelial growth factor B, a novel growth factor for endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 93, 2576-2581.
- Olofsson, B., Pajusola, K., von Euler, G., Chilov, D., Alitalo, K., and Eriksson, U. (1996b). Genomic organization of the mouse and human genes for vascular endothelial growth factor B (VEGF-B) and characterization of a second splice isoform. J Biol Chem 271, 19310-19317.
- Orlandini, M., Spreafico, A., Bardelli, M., Rocchigiani, M., Salameh, A., Nucciotti, S., Capperucci, C., Frediani, B., and Oliviero, S. (2006). Vascular endothelial growth factor-D activates VEGFR-3 expressed in osteoblasts inducing their differentiation. J Biol Chem.
- Paavonen, K., Puolakkainen, P., Jussila, L., Jahkola, T., and Alitalo, K. (2000). Vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 in lymphangiogenesis in wound healing. Am J Pathol 156, 1499-1504.
- Pajusola, K., Aprelikova, O., Armstrong, E., Morris, S., and Alitalo, K. (1993). Two human FLT4 receptor tyrosine kinase isoforms with distinct carboxy terminal tails are produced by alternative processing of primary transcripts. Oncogene 8, 2931-2937.

- Pajusola, K., Kunnapuu, J., Vuorikoski, S., Soronen, J., Andre, H., Pereira, T., Korpisalo, P., Yla-Herttuala, S., Poellinger, L., and Alitalo, K. (2005). Stabilized HIF-1alpha is superior to VEGF for angiogenesis in skeletal muscle via adenoassociated virus gene transfer. Faseb J 19, 1365-1367.
- Park, J. E., Chen, H. H., Winer, J., Houck, K. A., and Ferrara, N. (1994). Placenta growth factor. Potentiation of vascular endothelial growth factor bioactivity, *in vitro* and *in vivo*, and high affinity binding to Flt-1 but not to Flk-1/KDR. J Biol Chem 269, 25646-25654.
- Park, J. E., Keller, G. A., and Ferrara, N. (1993). The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) isoforms: differential deposition into the subepithelial extracellular matrix and bioactivity of extracellular matrix-bound VEGF. Mol Biol Cell 4, 1317-1326.
- Partanen, T. A., Alitalo, K., and Miettinen, M. (1999). Lack of lymphatic vascular specificity of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 3 in 185 vascular tumors. Cancer 86, 2406-2412.
- Partanen, T. A., Arola, J., Saaristo, A., Jussila, L., Ora, A., Miettinen, M., Stacker, S. A., Achen, M. G., and Alitalo, K. (2000). VEGF-C and VEGF-D expression in neuroendocrine cells and their receptor, VEGFR-3, in fenestrated blood vessels in human tissues. FASEB J 14, 2087-2096.
- Persico, M. G., Vincenti, V., and DiPalma, T. (1999). Structure, expression and receptor-binding properties of placenta growth factor (PIGF). Curr Top Microbiol Immunol 237, 31-40.
- Pettersson, A., Nagy, J. A., Brown, L. F., Sundberg, C., Morgan, E., Jungles, S., Carter, R., Krieger, J. E., Manseau, E. J., Harvey, V. S., *et al.* (2000). Heterogeneity of the angiogenic response induced in different normal adult tissues by vascular permeability factor/vascular endothelial growth factor. Lab Invest 80, 99-115.
- Pietras, K., Ostman, A., Sjoquist, M., Buchdunger, E., Reed, R. K., Heldin, C. H., and Rubin, K. (2001). Inhibition of platelet-derived growth factor receptors reduces interstitial hypertension and increases transcapillary transport in tumors. Cancer Res 61, 2929-2934.
- Podgrabinska, S., Braun, P., Velasco, P., Kloos, B., Pepper, M. S., and Skobe, M. (2002). Molecular characterization of lymphatic endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 16069-16074.
- Raines, E. W. (2004). PDGF and cardiovascular disease. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 15, 237-254.
- Reigstad, L. J., Varhaug, J. E., and Lillehaug, J. R. (2005). Structural and functional specificities of PDGF-C and PDGF-D, the novel members of the platelet-derived growth factors family. Febs J 272, 5723-5741.
- Risau, W. (1995). Differentiation of endothelium. Faseb J 9, 926-933.
- Rissanen, T. T., Markkanen, J. E., Gruchala, M., Heikura, T., Puranen, A., Kettunen, M. I., Kholova, I., Kauppinen, R. A., Achen, M. G., Stacker, S. A., *et al.* (2003). VEGF-D is the strongest angiogenic and lymphangiogenic effector among VEGFs delivered into skeletal muscle via adenoviruses. Circ Res 92, 1098-1106.
- Roberts, N., Kloos, B., Cassella, M., Podgrabinska, S., Persaud, K., Wu, Y., Pytowski, B., and Skobe, M. (2006). Inhibition of VEGFR-3 activation with the antagonistic antibody more potently suppresses lymph node and distant metastases than inactivation of VEGFR-2. Cancer Res 66, 2650-2657.
- Rockson, S. G. (2000). Lymphedema. Curr Treat Options Cardiovasc Med 2, 237-242.
- Rosengart, T. K., Johnson, W. V., Friesel, R., Clark, R., and Maciag, T. (1988). Heparin protects heparin-binding growth factor-I from proteolytic inactivation in vitro. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 152, 432-440.
- Ruhrberg, C., Gerhardt, H., Golding, M., Watson, R., Ioannidou, S., Fujisawa, H., Betsholtz, C., and Shima, D. T. (2002). Spatially restricted patterning cues provided by heparin-binding VEGF-A control blood vessel branching morphogenesis. Genes Dev 16, 2684-2698.
- Saaristo, A., Tammela, T., Farkkila, A., Karkkainen, M., Suominen, E., Yla-Herttuala, S., and Alitalo, K. (2006). Vascular endothelial growth factor-C accelerates diabetic wound healing. Am J Pathol 169, 1080-1087.
- Saaristo, A., Tammela, T., Timonen, J., Yla-Herttuala, S., Tukiainen, E., Asko-Seljavaara, S., and Alitalo, K. (2004). Vascular endothelial growth factor-C gene therapy restores lymphatic flow across incision wounds. Faseb J 18, 1707-1709.
- Saaristo, A., Veikkola, T., Enholm, B., Hytonen, M., Arola, J., Pajusola, K., Turunen, P., Jeltsch, M., Karkkainen, M. J., Kerjaschki, D., *et al.* (2002a). Adenoviral VEGF-C overexpression induces blood vessel enlargement, tortuosity, and leakiness but no sprouting angiogenesis in the skin or mucous membranes. Faseb J 16, 1041-1049.

- Saaristo, A., Veikkola, T., Tammela, T., Enholm, B., Karkkainen, M. J., Pajusola, K., Bueler, H., Yla-Herttuala, S., and Alitalo, K. (2002b). Lymphangiogenic gene therapy with minimal blood vascular side effects. J Exp Med 196, 719-730.
- Saharinen, P., Tammela, T., Karkkainen, M. J., and Alitalo, K. (2004). Lymphatic vasculature: development, molecular regulation and role in tumor metastasis and inflammation. Trends Immunol 25, 387-395.
- Sakurai, Y., Ohgimoto, K., Kataoka, Y., Yoshida, N., and Shibuya, M. (2005). Essential role of Flk-1 (VEGF receptor 2) tyrosine residue 1173 in vasculogenesis in mice. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 102, 1076-1081.
- Salameh, A., Galvagni, F., Bardelli, M., Bussolino, F., and Oliviero, S. (2005). Direct recruitment of CRK and GRB2 to VEGFR-3 induces proliferation, migration, and survival of endothelial cells through the activation of ERK, AKT, and JNK pathways. Blood 106, 3423-3431.
- Schoppmann, S. F., Birner, P., Stockl, J., Kalt, R., Ullrich, R., Caucig, C., Kriehuber, E., Nagy, K., Alitalo, K., and Kerjaschki, D. (2002). Tumor-associated macrophages express lymphatic endothelial growth factors and are related to peritumoral lymphangiogenesis. Am J Pathol 161, 947-956.
- Senger, D. R., Claffey, K. P., Benes, J. E., Perruzzi, C. A., Sergiou, A. P., and Detmar, M. (1997). Angiogenesis promoted by vascular endothelial growth factor: regulation through alpha1beta1 and alpha2beta1 integrins. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 94, 13612-13617.
- Shalaby, F., Rossant, J., Yamaguchi, T. P., Gertsenstein, M., Wu, X. F., Breitman, M. L., and Schuh, A. C. (1995). Failure of blood-island formation and vasculogenesis in Flk-1-deficient mice. Nature 376, 62-66.
- Shay-Salit, A., Shushy, M., Wolfovitz, E., Yahav, H., Breviario, F., Dejana, E., and Resnick, N. (2002). VEGF receptor 2 and the adherens junction as a mechanical transducer in vascular endothelial cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 9462-9467.
- Shibuya, M. (2001). Structure and dual function of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-1 (Flt-1). Int J Biochem Cell Biol 33, 409-420.
- Shibuya, M., and Claesson-Welsh, L. (2006). Signal transduction by VEGF receptors in regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. Exp Cell Res 312, 549-560.
- Shibuya, M., Yamaguchi, S., Yamane, A., Ikeda, T., Tojo, A., Matsushime, H., and Sato, M. (1990). Nucleotide sequence and expression of a novel human receptor type tyrosine kinase gene (*flt*) closely related to the *fms* family. Oncogene 5, 519-524.
- Siegbahn, A., Hammacher, A., Westermark, B., and Heldin, C. H. (1990). Differential effects of the various isoforms of platelet-derived growth factor on chemotaxis of fibroblasts, monocytes, and granulocytes. J Clin Invest 85, 916-920.
- Siegfried, G., Basak, A., Cromlish, J. A., Benjannet, S., Marcinkiewicz, J., Chretien, M., Seidah, N. G., and Khatib, A. M. (2003). The secretory proprotein convertases furin, PC5, and PC7 activate VEGF-C to induce tumorigenesis. J Clin Invest 111, 1723-1732.
- Simons, M. (2005). Angiogenesis: where do we stand now? Circulation 111, 1556-1566.
- Skobe, M., Hamberg, L. M., Hawighorst, T., Schirner, M., Wolf, G. L., Alitalo, K., and Detmar, M. (2001a). Concurrent induction of lymphangiogenesis, angiogenesis, and macrophage recruitment by vascular endothelial growth factor-C in melanoma. Am J Pathol 159, 893-903.
- Skobe, M., Hawighorst, T., Jackson, D. G., Prevo, R., Janes, L., Velasco, P., Riccardi, L., Alitalo, K., Claffey, K., and Detmar, M. (2001b). Induction of tumor lymphangiogenesis by VEGF-C promotes breast cancer metastasis. Nat Med 7, 192-198.
- Soker, S., Miao, H. Q., Nomi, M., Takashima, S., and Klagsbrun, M. (2002). VEGF165 mediates formation of complexes containing VEGFR-2 and neuropilin-1 that enhance VEGF165-receptor binding. J Cell Biochem 85, 357-368.
- Soker, S., Takashima, S., Miao, H. Q., Neufeld, G., and Klagsbrun, M. (1998). Neuropilin-1 is expressed by endothelial and tumor cells as an isoform-specific receptor for vascular endothelial growth factor. Cell 92, 735-745.
- Soldi, R., Mitola, S., Strasly, M., Defilippi, P., Tarone, G., and Bussolino, F. (1999). Role of alphavbeta3 integrin in the activation of vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2. Embo J 18, 882-892.
- Soriano, P. (1994). Abnormal kidney development and hematological disorders in PDGF β-receptor mutant mice. Genes dev 8, 1888-1896.

- Stacker, S. A., Achen, M. G., Jussila, L., Baldwin, M. E., and Alitalo, K. (2002a). Lymphangiogenesis and cancer metastasis. Nat Rev Cancer 2, 573-583.
- Stacker, S. A., Baldwin, M. E., and Achen, M. G. (2002b). The role of tumor lymphangiogenesis in metastatic spread. Faseb J 16, 922-934.
- Stacker, S. A., Caesar, C., Baldwin, M. E., Thornton, G. E., Williams, R. A., Prevo, R., Jackson, D. G., Nishikawa, S., Kubo, H., and Achen, M. G. (2001). VEGF-D promotes the metastatic spread of tumor cells via the lymphatics. Nat Med 7, 186-191.
- Stacker, S. A., Stenvers, K., Caesar, C., Vitali, A., Domagala, T., Nice, E., Roufail, S., Simpson, R. J., Moritz, R., Karpanen, T., *et al.* (1999). Biosynthesis of vascular endothelial growth factor-D involves proteolytic processing which generates non-covalent homodimers. J Biol Chem 274, 32127-32136.
- Takahashi, H., Hattori, S., Iwamatsu, A., Takizawa, H., and Shibuya, M. (2004). A novel snake venom vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) predominantly induces vascular permeability through preferential signaling via VEGF receptor-1. J Biol Chem 279, 46304-46314.
- Takahashi, H., and Shibuya, M. (2005). The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)/VEGF receptor system and its role under physiological and pathological conditions. Clin Sci (Lond) *109*, 227-241.
- Takahashi, T., Yamaguchi, S., Chida, K., and Shibuya, M. (2001). A single autophosphorylation site on KDR/Flk-1 is essential for VEGF-A-dependent activation of PLC-gamma and DNA synthesis in vascular endothelial cells. Embo J 20, 2768-2778.
- Takashima, S., Kitakaze, M., Asakura, M., Asanuma, H., Sanada, S., Tashiro, F., Niwa, H., Miyazaki Ji, J., Hirota, S., Kitamura, Y., *et al.* (2002). Targeting of both mouse neuropilin-1 and neuropilin-2 genes severely impairs developmental yolk sac and embryonic angiogenesis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 99, 3657-3662.
- Tammela, T., Saaristo, A., Lohela, M., Morisada, T., Tornberg, J., Norrmen, C., Oike, Y., Pajusola, K., Thurston, G., Suda, T., et al. (2005). Angiopoietin-1 promotes lymphatic sprouting and hyperplasia. Blood 105, 4642-4648.
- Tsai, Y. J., Lee, R. K., Lin, S. P., and Chen, Y. H. (2000). Identification of a novel platelet-derived growth factor-like gene, fallotein, in the human reproductive tract. Biochim Biophys Acta 1492, 196-202.
- Valtola, R., Salven, P., Heikkila, P., Taipale, J., Joensuu, H., Rehn, M., Pihlajaniemi, T., Weich, H., deWaal, R., and Alitalo, K. (1999). VEGFR-3 and its ligand VEGF-C are associated with angiogenesis in breast cancer. Am J Pathol 154, 1381-1390.
- Wang, J.-F., Ganju, R., Liu, Z.-Y., Avraham, H., Avraham, S., and Groopman, J. (1997). Signal transduction in human hematopoietic cells by vascular endothelial growth factor related protein, a novel ligand for the FLT4 receptor. Blood 90, 3507-3515.
- Wang, J. F., Zhang, X.-F., and Groopman, J. E. (2001). Stimulation of β1 integrin induces tyrosine phosphorylation of VEGF receptor-3 and modulates cell migration. J Biol Chem 276, 41950-41957.
- Wedge, S. R., Kendrew, J., Hennequin, L. F., Valentine, P. J., Barry, S. T., Brave, S. R., Smith, N. R., James, N. H., Dukes, M., Curwen, J. O., *et al.* (2005). AZD2171: a highly potent, orally bioavailable, vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 tyrosine kinase inhibitor for the treatment of cancer. Cancer Res 65, 4389-4400.
- Veikkola, T., Jussila, L., Makinen, T., Karpanen, T., Jeltsch, M., Petrova, T. V., Kubo, H., Thurston, G., McDonald, D. M., Achen, M. G., et al. (2001). Signalling via vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-3 is sufficient for lymphangiogenesis in transgenic mice. EMBO J 20, 1223-1231.
- Wigle, J. T., Harvey, N., Detmar, M., Lagutina, I., Grosveld, G., Gunn, M. D., Jackson, D. G., and Oliver, G. (2002). An essential role for Prox1 in the induction of the lymphatic endothelial cell phenotype. EMBO J 21, 1505-1513.
- Wigle, J. T., and Oliver, G. (1999). Prox1 function is required for the development of the murine lymphatic system. Cell 98, 769-778.
- Wise, L. M., Veikkola, T., Mercer, A. A., Savory, L. J., Fleming, S. B., Caesar, C., Vitali, A., Makinen, T., Alitalo, K., and Stacker, S. A. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF)-like protein from orf virus NZ2 binds to VEGFR2 and neuropilin-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96, 3071-3076.
- Witte, M. H., Bernas, M. J., Martin, C. P., and Witte, C. L. (2001). Lymphangiogenesis and lymphangiodysplasia: from molecular to clinical lymphology. Microsc Res Tech 55, 122-145.

- Witzenbichler, B., Asahara, T., Murohara, T., Silver, M., Spyridopoulos, I., Magner, M., Principe, N., Kearney, M., Hu, J.-S., and Isner, J. M. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor-C (VEGF-C/VEGF-2) promotes angiogenesis in the setting of tissue ischemia. Am J Pathol 153, 381-394.
- Vlahakis, N. E., Young, B. A., Atakilit, A., and Sheppard, D. (2005). The lymphangiogenic vascular endothelial growth factors VEGF-C and -D are ligands for the integrin alpha9beta1. J Biol Chem 280, 4544-4552.
- Von Marschall, Z., Scholz, A., Stacker, S. A., Achen, M. G., Jackson, D. G., Alves, F., Schirner, M., Haberey, M., Thierauch, K. H., Wiedenmann, B., and Rosewicz, S. (2005). Vascular endothelial growth factor-D induces lymphangiogenesis and lymphatic metastasis in models of ductal pancreatic cancer. Int J Oncol 27, 669-679.
- von Tell, D., Armulik, A., and Betsholtz, C. (2006). Pericytes and vascular stability. Exp Cell Res 312, 623-629.
- Yamashita, J., Itoh, H., Hirashima, M., Ogawa, M., Nishikawa, S., Yurugi, T., Naito, M., and Nakao, K. (2000). Flk1positive cells derived from embryonic stem cells serve as vascular progenitors. Nature 408, 92-96.
- Yancopoulos, G. D., Davis, S., Gale, N. W., Rudge, J. S., Wiegand, S. J., and Holash, J. (2000). Vascular-specific growth factors and blood vessel formation. Nature 407, 242-248.
- Yayon, A., Klagsbrun, M., Esko, J. D., Leder, P., and Ornitz, D. M. (1991). Cell surface, heparin-like molecules are required for binding of basic fibroblast growth factor to its high affinity receptor. Cell 64, 841-848.
- Yuan, L., Moyon, D., Pardanaud, L., Breant, C., Karkkainen, M. J., Alitalo, K., and Eichmann, A. (2002). Abnormal lymphatic vessel development in neuropilin 2 mutant mice. Development 129, 4797-4806.
- Zeng, H., Dvorak, H. F., and Mukhopadhyay, D. (2001). Vascular permeability factor (VPF)/vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) peceptor-1 down-modulates VPF/VEGF receptor-2-mediated endothelial cell proliferation, but not migration, through phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase-dependent pathways. J Biol Chem 276, 26969-26979.
- Zheng, Y., Murakami, M., Takahashi, H., Yamauchi, M., Kiba, A., Yamaguchi, S., Yabana, N., Alitalo, K., and Shibuya, M. (2006). Chimeric VEGF-E(NZ7)/PIGF promotes angiogenesis via VEGFR-2 without significant enhancement of vascular permeability and inflammation. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 26, 2019-2026.
- Zheng, Y., Watanabe, M., Kuraishi, T., Hattori, S., Kai, C., and Shibuya, M. (2007). Chimeric VEGF-ENZ7/PIGF specifically binding to VEGFR-2 accelerates skin wound healing via enhancement of neovascularization. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol 27, 503-511.
- Ziche, M., Maglione, D., Ribatti, D., Morbidelli, L., Lago, C. T., Battisti, M., Paoletti, I., Barra, A., Tucci, M., Parise, G., et al. (1997). Placenta growth factor-1 is chemotactic, mitogenic, and angiogenic. Lab Invest 76, 517-531.
- Ziegler, B. L., Valtieri, M., Porada, G. A., De Maria, R., Muller, R., Masella, B., Gabbianelli, M., Casella, I., Pelosi, E., Bock, T., *et al.* (1999). KDR receptor: a key marker defining hematopoietic stem cells. Science 285, 1553-1558.